


- over - 

AGENDA FOR 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 

REGULAR MEETING 

 
Elkhart Community Schools 

Elkhart, Indiana 
 

December 13, 2016 

 
CALENDAR 

Dec 13 5:30 p.m. Public Work Session, Mary Feeser Elementary School, 26665 CR 4 

Dec 13 
Immediately 

following 
Executive Session, Mary Feeser Elementary School, 26665 CR 4 

Dec 13 7:00 p.m. Regular Board Meeting, Mary Feeser Elementary School, 26665 CR 4 

Dec 20 8:00 a.m. 
Business Meeting/Public Work Session, J.C. Rice Educational Services 
Center 

Jan 10 5:30 p.m. Public Work Session, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Jan 10 
Immediately 

following 
Executive Session, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Jan 10 7:00 p.m. Regular Board Meeting, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

 

******************* 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER/PLEDGE 

 
B. INVITATION TO SPEAK PROTOCOL 

 

C. SUPERINTENDENT’S STUDENT ADVISORY COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVES 
 

Central High School – Emma Romano 

Memorial High School – Mitchell Crothers 
 

D. BUILDING REPORT 
Building Energy Report – Jeff Komins 

Kevin Dean - Principal 

 
E. MINUTES 

November 22, 2016 – Public Work Session 

November 22, 2016 – Regular Board Meeting 
 

F. TREASURER'S REPORT 

 
 Consideration of Claims 

 

 Fundraisers - The Business Office recommends Board approval of proposed 
school fundraisers in accordance with Board Policy. 
 

 Permission to Advertise – The Business Office requests permission to advertise 
a timber harvest. 
 

  



BOARD AGENDA December 13, 2016 
 
 

2 
   

G. NEW BUSINESS 
 

 Community Partnership Update 

 
 2017–2018 School Calendar – The administration presents the 2017-2018 

School Calendar for initial consideration. 

 
 Redevelopment Commission Appointment 

 

 Organizational Chart – The administration seeks Board approval of the 
proposed organizational chart. 
 

 Partnership Agreements – The administration seeks Board approval of the 
proposed Agreements with Beacon Health and with the Community Foundation 
of Elkhart County. 

 
 Board Policies - Compensation – The administration presents proposed revisions 

to the following Board Policies and asks to waive 2nd reading: 

 
3422.01S - Food Service Employees’ Compensation Plan 
3422.02S - Mechanics’ Compensation Plan  

3422.03S - Bus Drivers’ Compensation Plan  
3422.04S - Bus Helpers’ Compensation Plan  
3422.05S - Support Staff Salary Schedule 

3422.06S - Secretarial/Business Compensation Plan 
3422.08S – Paraprofessionals’ Compensation Plan 
3422.09S - Technical Assistants’ Compensation Plan 

3422.10S - Registered Nurses’ Compensation Plan 
3422.11S - Social Workers’ Compensation Plan 
3422.12S – Employees in Miscellaneous Positions Compensation Plan 

3422.13S - Therapists’ Compensation Plan  
3422.14S - Employees in Technology Services Positions Compensation Plan 

 
 Custodial Agreement – The administration recommends Board approval of the 

proposed Agreement with the American Federation of State, County, and 

Municipal Employees (AFL-CIO, Local #2925) related to compensation. 
 

 Administration Regulation DLC – Expenditure Reimbursements - The 

administration presents proposed revisions to Administrative Regulation DLC – 
Expenditure Reimbursements, for initial consideration. 
  

 Technology Presentation 
 

 Grant Approval – It is recommended the Board approve submission of grants as 

recommended by the administration. 
 

 Alternative Residential Services Agreement – The administration recommends 

Board approval for alternative residential services for an Elkhart Community 
Schools’ student. 
 

  



BOARD AGENDA December 13, 2016 
 
 

3 
   

H. PERSONNEL 
 

 Conference Leaves - It is recommended the Board grant conference leave 

requests in accordance with Board Policy to staff members as recommended by 
the administration. 
 

 Certified and Classified Staff - See the report and recommendations of the 
administration. 
 

I. INFORMATION AND PROPOSALS 
 

 From Audience 

 
 From Superintendent and Staff 

 

 From Board 
 

J. ADJOURNMENT 

 













MINUTES OF THE 
PUBLIC WORK SESSION 

OF THE 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 

 
Elkhart Community Schools 

Elkhart, Indiana 
 

November 22, 2016 
 
J. C. Rice Educational Services Center, 2720 California Rd, Elkhart – 5:30 p.m. 
 

Time/Place 

Board Members Glenn L. Duncan Carolyn R. Morris 
Present: Susan C. Daiber Dorisanne H. Nielsen 
 Karen S. Carter Jeri E. Stahr 
  Douglas K. Weaver 
   
ECS Personnel Present: Tony Gianesi Tina Northern 
 Doug Hasler Kevin Scott 
 Rob Haworth Doug Thorne 
 Henry Lohmeyer Dee Wappes 
 Dawn McGrath Bob Woods 
   

 

Roll Call 

The Board heard Tina Northern, Director of Special Education, report on 
Northwest Evaluation Association (NWEA) requirements in regards to 
accommodations and Dee Wappes, Supervisor of Assessment & Data, report on 
ISTEP testing.  Doug Hasler, Chief Operating Officer and Henry Lohmeyer, 
Director of Transportation, discussed the request to purchase busses through 
the State purchasing program.  Superintendent Haworth discussed the change 
to the crossing guards funding from the City of Elkhart.  The Board discussed 

agenda items for the regular Board meeting. 

 

Topics 

Discussed 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 6:25 p.m. 

 

Adjournment 

 
APPROVED: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Glenn L. Duncan, President 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Susan C. Daiber, Vice President 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Karen S. Carter, Secretary 
 

 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Carolyn R. Morris, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Dorisanne H. Nielsen, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Jeri E. Stahr, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Douglas K. Weaver, Member 

 

 

 

Signatures 

 



 

MINUTES 

OF THE REGULAR MEETING 
OF THE BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 

 
Elkhart Community Schools 

Elkhart, Indiana 

November 22, 2016 
 
 

J. C. Rice Educational Services Center, 2720 California Rd, Elkhart – at 
7:00 p.m. 
 

Place/Time 

Board Members Glenn L. Duncan Carolyn R. Morris 

Present: Susan C. Daiber Dorisanne H. Nielsen 
 Karen S. Carter Jeri E. Stahr 
  Douglas K. Weaver 

   
 

Roll Call 

President Glenn Duncan called the regular meeting of the Board of 
School Trustees to order.  The pledge of allegiance was recited. 
 

Call to 
Order 

Mr. Duncan discussed the invitation to speak protocol. 
 

Protocol 

Superintendent’s Student Advisory Council (SSAC) representatives 

introduced themselves: Sofia Sanchez, a freshman from Central High 
School (CHS) and Lindsey Stahl, a senior from Memorial High School 
(MHS).  In addition to SSAC, Sofia Sanchez is involved in the 

philharmonic orchestra, drama club and the creative writing club.  She 
reported on the orchestra’s upcoming winter concert on December 7th; 
and the progress of Blazer Fest to educate 8th graders on the vast 

opportunities available at Central.  Lindsey Stahl invited the Board to the 
following events: 40th annual Madrigal dinner; intermediate winter band 
and orchestra concerts; happy holidays combined music department 

concert; first ever piano recital; and the pep band’s participation at the 
Notre Dame Women’s basketball game.  She also reported on various 
winter sports and the expansion of the Athlete Outreach Project to 

include West Side.  The focus will be on preparing student athletes for 
the transition and expectations of being a high school athlete.  Over 30 
Memorial athletes have signed up for the project. 

 

SSAC 

Representatives 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the following minutes:  
November 8, 2016 – Public Work Session 

November 8, 2016 – Regular Board Meeting 
November 15, 2016 – Public Work Session 

 

Approval of 
Minutes 

By unanimous action, the Board approved payment of claims totaling 
$1,356,930.64 as shown on the November 22, 2016, claims listing.  

(Codified File 1617-65) 
 

Payment of 
Claims  



2 
 

By unanimous action, the Board accepted with appreciation the following 
donations made to Elkhart Community Schools (ECS):  $2,000.00 from 

IOI Interlogic Outsourcing, Inc. to Central’s girls basketball team; 
miscellaneous machinist tools with an approximate value of $4,139.00 
from Bruce Mann to the Elkhart Area Career Center (EACC) for the 

Machine Trades class; a 1987 Pierce fire truck and 40 sets of used fire 
bunker gear valued at $4,000.00 and $2,000.00 respectively, from the 
Elkhart City Fire Department for use in the EACC’s Firefighting class; 

$280.00 from the University of Notre Dame in response to Cleveland’s 
partnership with the university to Cleveland’s extra-curricular funds for 
student activities; and 30 iMac computers for the new “Cameo Victor Art 

Lab” valued at $30,840.60 from the family of Cameo Victor through the 
Elkhart Education Foundation. 
 

Gift Acceptance 

The Board received a financial report for the period January 1 – October 
31, 2016. 
 

Financial 
Report 

President Duncan opened a public hearing on the proposed additional 
appropriation for the General Fund in excess of the budget for 2016, 
with no comments from the audience, the hearing was closed. 

 

Public Hearing 
 

By unanimous action, the Board adopted a resolution for additional 

appropriations for the General Fund for 2016.(Codified File 1617-66) 

Resolution for 

Additional 
Appropriations 
 

By unanimous action, the Board adopted a resolution for transfer of 
appropriations in 2016 tax reported funds.(Codified File 1617-67) 

Resolution for 
Transfer of 
Appropriations 

 
By unanimous action, the Board approved proposed school fundraisers 
in accordance with Board policy.  The funds raised through the listed 

activities are deposited into each school’s extra-curricular fund. (Codified 
File 1617-68) 
 

Fundraiser 
Approval 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the following extra-curricular 
purchases: basketball equipment for West Side in the amount of 
$1,162.00; shooting shirts and travel attire for boys basketball at West 

Side in the amount of $3,000.51; and 110 polo shirts for the 
band/orchestra at West Side in the amount of $1,650.00. 
 

Extra Curricular 
Purchases 
 

By unanimous action, the Board authorized Doug Hasler, chief operating 
officer, to trade-in 12 busses and purchase up to 15 72-passenger 
busses through the State purchasing program.  Ideally, school fleet 

busses should not exceed 12 years of age.  The 12 busses for trade-in 
will be selected by Henry Lohmeyer, director of transportation. 
 

Bus Purchase 

  



3 
 

Dee Wappes, supervisor of assessment and data, presented ISTEP+ 
testing results.  A discussion followed on: the value of the results due to 

flawed tests; the desire for test results to be provided earlier since 
teacher evaluations and bonuses are based on them; and wasted time 
and money spent on testing and results.  Board member Karen Carter 

requested additional results by number, by school. 
 

ISTEP+ Scores 

Tony England, assistant superintendent of student services, introduced 

David Bird, supervisor of School Without Walls, who provided an update 
on the program.  Two years ago, at the start of the program, Mr. Bird 
reported 50 students enrolled, peaking at 148 with 232 credits earned 

and 32 graduates, last November 312 students enrolled including 
‘hybrid’ students, peaking at 390 with 1,120 credits earned and 130 
graduates.  This year so far, 385 students have enrolled including hybrid 

students and students from other school districts, with 578 credits 
earned to date.  He credited an amazing staff for the outstanding 
results.  Mr. England pointed out a second location was added this year 

with a lab at Central. 
 

School Without 

Walls 

By unanimous action, the adopted a resolution accepting the 

comprehensive document (NEOLA) as Bylaws and Policies of Elkhart 
Community Schools effective January 1, 2017.  Board member Karen 

Carter commented she had read over 1,100 pages of the NEOLA 
document and it contains a great deal of ‘lawyer speak’.  It was noted 
the current document is not easy to read either and once changes 

presented are made, will be an easily available and properly updated 
document.  Doug Thorne, executive director of personnel and legal 
services, thanked the Board for all of the time and effort needed to 

revise the policies. (Codified File 1617-69) 
 

Resolution for 

NEOLA 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the submission of grants to 

Pets in the Classroom from Woodland for $75.00; and to the Indiana 
Association for the Education of Young Children from the Teenage 
Parent Program for $3,000.00 as recommended by the 

administration.  (Codified File 1617-70) 

 

Grant Approval 

By unanimous action, the Board approved overnight trip requests for 
Memorial wrestlers to travel to New Castle, IN on November 18 and 
19, and to Yorktown, IN on December 16 and 17 for wrestling meets. 

 

Overnight Trip 
Request 

By unanimous action, the Board approved conference leave requests in 

accordance with Board policy for staff members as recommended by the 
administration on the November 22, 2016 listings. (Codified File 1617-
71) 

 

Conference 

Leaves 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the following personnel 
recommendations of the administration: 

 

Personnel 
Report 

An agreement regarding employee retention for a certified staff 
member. (Codified Files 1617-72) 

Agreement 
 



4 
 

An agreement regarding unpaid time for a certified staff member. 
(Codified Files 1617-73) 

 

Consent 
Agreement 

 
Employment for certified staff member Tracey Gangluff, speech 
pathologist at PACE, for the 2016-2017 school year effective 

November 21, 2016. 
 

Certified 
Employment 

Retirement of certified staff member, Debra Beehler, behavior 

support, 12/16/16 with 16 years of service. 

Certified 

Retirement 
 

Resignation of certified staff member, Aaron Fitz, math at 

Central, effective 11/18/16. 

Certified 

Resignation 
 

Retirement of Rebecca Vechera, secretary at Osolo, 12/31/16 

with 32 years of service. 
 

Classified 

Retirement 
 

Resignation of the following five (5) classified employees effective 

on dates indicated:  
Brian Chomer - misc. food service truck driver at Commissary, 
  11/28/16 

Pamela Croxall - bus driver at Transportation, 12/2/16 
Douglas Hasler - chief operating officer at ESC, 11/25/16 

Mark Lutz - bus driver at Transportation, 11/18/16 
Danielle Schroeder - paraprofessional at Cleveland, 11/8/16 
 

Classified 

Resignations 
 

Retraction of a resignation reported in error for classified 
employee Jane Cooper, food service at Pierre Moran 

Retraction of 
Resignation 
 

Regular employment of the following nine (9) classified 
employees, who have successfully completed their probationary 
periods, on dates indicated: 

Timary Dupree - food service at Memorial, 11/14/16 
Edith Fernandez - food service at Osolo, 11/21/16 
Cori Ledden-Edmisten - paraprofessional at Feeser, 11/14/16 

Susan Miller - paraprofessional at Daly, 11/14/16 
Renzo Olcese - paraprofessional at EACC, 11/22/16 
Abigail Paar - bus driver unassigned at Transportation, 

11/14/16 
Jessie VanKlaveren - paraprofessional at Hawthorne, 11/17/16 
Sue Williams - paraprofessional at Daly, 11/15/16 

Kristina Wiskotoni - food service at Tipton/Central, 11/21/16 
 

Classified  
Employment 

Superintendent Haworth presented Doug Hasler with a plaque for his 

years of service to Elkhart Community Schools and wished him well on 
his move to Minnesota. 
 

From the 

Superintendent 
 

A Board member complimented the food service department on the 
catering showcase hosted at Memorial. 
 

 

From the Board 
 



5 
 

A Board member commented the Career Center is now providing dog 
grooming. 

 

From the Board 
 

A Board member expressed her gratitude for being a part of the Board 
and the district, the talent seen in the play “Through Our Eyes” recently 

written and performed by Central students, and continued examples of 
sportsmanship and caring on behalf of the students. 
 

From the Board 
 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 7:50 p.m. 
 

Adjournment 

APPROVED: 

  ____________________________________ 
  Glenn L. Duncan, President 
 

 
  ____________________________________ 
  Susan C. Daiber, Vice President 

 
 

____________________________________ 

  Karen S. Carter, Secretary 
 

 
____________________________________ 

  Carolyn R. Morris, Member 

 
 

____________________________________ 

  Dorisanne H. Nielsen, Member 
 
 

  _____________________  ______________ 
  Jeri E. Stahr, Member 
 

 
  ____________________________________ 
  Douglas K. Weaver, Member 

Signatures 

 









Presented to the Board December 13, 2016 

 

Board of School Trustees Board Secretary 

Superintendent 

Deputy Superintendent 

Chief Financial 
officer 

Executive Assistant 

Supv of 
Corporate/Community 

Partnerships 

TBD Co-Curricular 
Programming 

District 
Counsel/Chief of 

Staff 

Chief Operating 
Officer 

 

Assistant Superintendent 
of Student Services 

Director of 
Communication  

 

Director of 
Transportation 

Assistant Director 
of Human 
Resources 

 

Director of 
Business 

Operations 

Controller 

Supv. Accounting, 
Audits & Invest. 

Director of Safety, 
Security & Risk 

Assessment  

 

Director of Food 
Services 

 

Director of 
Building Services 

Director of 
Elementary 
Instruction 

 

Director of Special 
Education 

Supv of Intense 
Intervention 

 

Coordinator of 
Connective 

Leadership & 
Inclusion 

 

 

A 

Director of 
Federal 

Programming 

 

Director of 
Professional 

Growth/Grant 
Writing/PreK 

Grants 
 

Director of 
Technology 
Integration 

 

Building 

Principals 

  

 

Director of 
Accreditation & 

International 
Programming 

 

Director of Human 
Resources 

Director of 
Technology 

Director of Data and 
Assessments  

 

Supv of Mild 
Intervention 

 

Supv of Spec Ed 
– Pre K (PACE) 

 

Director of 
Elkhart 

Elementary 
Academy 

 District 
Graduation 
Facilitator 

 

Program Supv 
School without 

Walls 

 

Supv of Student 
Services/Attendance 

 

Director of 
Secondary 
Instruction 

 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 1 of 19 
 
 

FOOD SERVICE EMPLOYEES’ COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
Salary Schedule 
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage and career 
increment schedule for food service personnel to be effective beginning January 1, 
20176. 
 
 WAGE SCHEDULE 
       
STEP I II II.5 III IV V 
 A B A B B B B B 
         
Probationary 7.99 

8.21 
7.81 
8.03 

8.31 
8.54 

8.14 
8.36 

9.21 
9.46 

13.29 
13.66 

14.04 
14.43 

14.54 
14.94 

         
55 days - 1 year 8.73 

8.97 
8.54 
8.78 

9.09 
9.34 

8.88 
9.13 

9.93 
10.20 

14.12 
14.52 

14.85 
15.26 

15.35 
15.77 

         
1 year – 2 years 9.54 

9.80 
9.30 
9.56 

9.88 
10.15 

9.64 
9.91 

10.69 
10.99 

14.54 
14.94 

15.64 
16.07 

16.14 
16.59 

         
2 years – 3 years 10.44 

10.73 
10.18 
10.46 

10.80 
11.10 

10.51 
10.80 

11.55 
11.87 

15.66 
16.09 

16.51 
16.97 

17.01 
17.54 

         
Over 3 years 10.98 

11.28 
10.69 
10.99 

11.33 
11.64 

11.02 
11.32 

12.09 
13.45 

16.38 
16.83 

17.27 
17.75 

17.77 
18.26 

 
Key: Column A =  Less than four (4) hours/day employees 
 Column B =  Four (4) or more hours/day employees (In addition the three 

percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by 
Elkhart Community Schools) 
 

 I - Less than six and one-half (6.5) hour Satellite Employees and 
Elementary Lunch 

   Paraprofessionals 
 II - Commissary and Cafeteria Employees, Secondary Lunch 
   Paraprofessionals 
 II.5 - Commissary Line Leader and Elementary Managers 
 III - Middle School Managers, Assistant Managers 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 2 of 19 
 IV - Allergy Specialist  
 V - Memorial High School Manager, Central High School Manager and 

Summer Feeding Supervisor 
 
 
 A. The career increment applies to all food service personnel. 
   
 B. The career increment takes effect for each regular employee on the 

anniversary date (5-10-15-20 years).  The career increment is not 
cumulative, but the scheduled amount is added to the employee’s 
regular rate set forth on the Wage Schedule. 

   
 C. Years of employment will be determined by using the date the 

employee became regularly employed by the Elkhart Community 
Schools or by a township school which has since become a part of 
the Elkhart Community Schools. 

 
Career Increment Schedule 
 
 $.20 five (5) years, but less than ten (10)  
   
 $.30 ten (10) years, but less than fifteen (15)  
   
 $.50 fifteen (15) years, but less than twenty (20) 
   
 $.70 twenty (20) years and over 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 3 of 19 
 
Lunch Paraprofessionals, who were hired as a lunch paraprofessional prior to 
February 11, 2014, will be paid under the paraprofessional wage schedule as 
outlined below. 
 
Step ECS Experience as Paraprofessional Hourly Rate 
  A B 

1 0 days or more, but less than 64 55 days (Probationary 
Rate) 

9.68 
9.95 

9.17 
9.42 

2 64 55 days or more, but less than 1 year 9.80 
10.07  

9.51 
9.77 

3 1 year or more, but less than 2 years 10.28 
10.56 

10.01 
10.29 

4 2 years or more, but less than 3 years 10.81 
11.11 

10.49 
10.78 

5 3 years or more, but less than 4 years 11.31 
11.62 

10.97 
11.27 

6 4 years or more, but less than 5 years 11.73 
12.05 

11.38 
11.69 

7 5 years or more, but less than 6 years 12.25 
12.59 

11.87 
12.20 

8 6 years or more, but less than 7 years 12.71 
13.06 

12.33 
12.67 

9 7 years or more 13.23 
13.60 

12.84 
13.19 

 
Key: Column A =  Less than four (4) hours/day employees 
 Column B =  Four (4) or more hours/day employees (In addition the three 

percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by 
Elkhart Community Schools.) 

 
Lunch Paraprofessional Career Increment Schedule 
 
Years regularly employed by  Amount of Hourly  
Elkhart Community Schools Career Increments  
five (4) or more, but less than ten (10) .20  

ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) .30  

fifteen (15) or more, but less than seventeen (17) .40  

seventeen (17) or more, but less than twenty (20) .50  



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 4 of 19 
twenty (20) or more .60  

 
 
Additional Pay for Banquets and Special Functions 
 
Employees will receive time and one-half for all hours worked for special serving 
requests, banquets and special functions. 
 
Overtime 
 
Food Service employees who are assigned to work more than forty (40) hours in a 
week will be paid overtime compensation for time and a half for any hours worked in 
excess of forty (40) hours. 
 
Food Service Employees’ Fringe Benefits 
 
Income Protection and Annuities 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified 
employees to purchase income protection and tax sheltered annuities.  This is done 
by specifications and through a company or broker approved by the Board of 
Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 
Insurance 
 
In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools contributes 
toward a policy for each regular classified employee who is a member of the group 
hospitalization, major medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of 
School Trustees.  Effective January 1, 2015, the Board will pay $5,500 (for single, 
full-time coverage), $11,000 (for family, full-time coverage) or $11,275 (for family, 
full-time coverage, both employed) of the premium cost of a group hospitalization 
and major medical insurance plan, prescription drug and dental (when applicable) 
for all Food Service Employees who work six or more hours per day. Effective 
January 1, 2015, the Board will pay $4,400 (for single, half-time coverage) or $8,800 
(for family, half-time coverage) of the premium cost of such plan for all employees 
who work between four and six hours per day.  The employee may select one or the 
other plan provided by the Board.   



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 5 of 19 
 
 
 
The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual 
salary or wages rounded up to the next thousand dollars.  The Board will contribute 
ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term disability insurance 
policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week.  Employees 
interested in participating in these plans should contact the Business Office, 
Insurance Department. 
 
Severance Benefits 
 
Food Service employees who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active 
service with the Elkhart Community Schools will be eligible for the following benefits 
upon written resignation received by the Director of Personnel at least ten (10) 
working days prior to the last date of employment. 
 
 A. Resignation 
   
  Food Service employees shall receive pay for any unused personal 

business leave in the current year of employment, provided the 
following conditions are met by the employee: 

   
 1. The employee has completed at least six (6) months of active 

employment with the Elkhart Community Schools. 
   
 2. The employee has submitted a written resignation to the 

Director of Personnel, and 
   
 3. The resignation shall specify the last date of employment and 

shall be received by the Director of Personnel at least ten (10) 
working days prior to the last date of employment; or during 
the summer months at least twenty-one (21) calendar days 
prior to the scheduled working day. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 6 of 19 
 
 
   
 B. Retirement, Death, or Disability 
   
 1. For purposes of this benefit, “retirement” shall be defined as 

resignation by an employee who at the time of retirement is 
age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more consecutive years of 
employment in the Elkhart Community Schools.  Only the six 
months service requirement must be met to be eligible for the 
disability or death benefit. 

   
 2. A maximum of thirty (30) accumulated days of unused 

personal leave will be paid to eligible employees who retire, 
die, or become totally permanently disabled while employed 
by the Elkhart Community Schools. In the event of death, the 
benefit shall be paid to the decedent’s estate. 

   
 3. At the time of retirement, a Food Service employee shall 

receive pay for accumulated illness leave, not to exceed 
two (2) days per year.  Pay shall be for the greater of 
thirty (30) days or forty-five percent (45%) of accumulated 
illness leave. In the event of the death of a Food Service 
employee, while in the active employ of Elkhart Community 
Schools, said payment should be made to the employee’s 
beneficiary. 

   
 4. In addition, employees who are fifty-five years of age or older 

and have at least fifteen (15) years of service and who have 
been insured under the Elkhart Community Schools’ group 
insurance plan for at least the last five (5) years, shall be 
eligible to continue in that program until age sixty-five (65) by 
paying 100% of the premiums in advance at the business 
office. 

 
Change in Classification 
 
When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all 
comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years of accrued service and accumulated 
benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy 3413S. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 7 of 19 
 
 
 
Food Service Employees’ Absences 
 
In order to operate each kitchen effectively and efficiently, punctuality and 
regular attendance are of utmost importance. 
 
All Food Service employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to personal 
leave and personal illness days.  Absences for all Food Service personnel, in addition 
to the days to which they are entitled, shall be considered to be unexcused.  Three 
(3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school year shall be considered excessive 
and shall be grounds for suspension or termination.  When unable to report for 
work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give the reason for absence to 
his/her immediate supervisor at least one-half (1/2) hour before starting time, and 
upon return, file a report of absence.  Deductions for absence will be made at the 
daily rate unless covered by an absence policy.  Absence before or after a holiday 
must be approved in advance to be eligible for the salary allowed for the holiday.  (No 
absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay is not to be 
received.)  Upon written request received by the Director of Food Services at least 
two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five (5) or less 
consecutive working days may be approved.  The best interests of the School 
Corporation will be considered. 
 
Food Service Employees’ Illness Absences and Leaves 
 
Personal/Family Illness Absence 
 
Regular school year classified employees will be allowed the number of hours equal 
to one (1) workday per month of employment for personal illness/family illness 
leave. 
 
Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness absence to a total of the 
number of hours equal to 110 workdays.  Use of accumulated sick leave by a school 
year employee terminates at the close of the school year.  It cannot be used again 
unless the employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a later 
date. 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work 
following an illness. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 8 of 19 
 
 
 
Immediate family shall be interpreted as spouse, children, sister, brother, mother, 
father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, grandparents, 
grandchildren, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, or any other members of the family unit 
living in the same household. “Family Unit” shall mean any person related to the 
employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the employee is the 
legal guardian. 
 
Job-Related Injury 
 
An employee injured in the performance of his or her duties is eligible for Worker’s 
Compensation.  The employee is required to complete an injury report form on the 
day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the 
employer.  Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury 
arising out of and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by 
Indiana laws regarding Worker’s Compensation.  Worker’s Compensation 
benefits will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty six and two thirds 
percent (66-2/3%) of the employee’s average wage rate.  The employee’s share of the 
health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or 
insurance will be terminated.  An employee may receive full pay by using available 
illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Personal Illness Leave/Family Illness Leave Incentive Plan 
 
Beginning January 1, 1999, the following Personal Illness Leave/Family Illness 
Leave incentive plan will be effective for all food service employees.  The use of 
personal leave days will not affect the calculation of benefits under this incentive 
program.  For the purpose of the incentive program, the year will run from January 
1st through December 31st. 
 
 A. If a food service employee who is assigned to work four (4) or more 

hours does not use any of his/her Personal Illness, Family Illness, 
or unpaid days during the year, s/he will be given a payment of 
$400.  A food service employee who is assigned to work less than 
four (4) hours will be given a payment of $200 if s/he has no 
absences excluding any absences covered by applicable personal 
leave days. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 9 of 19 
 
 
   
 B. If a food service employee who is assigned to work four (4) or more 

hours uses only one of his/her Personal Illness, Family Illness, or 
unpaid days during the year, s/he will be given a payment of $200.  
A food service employee who is assigned to work less than four (4) 
hours will be given a payment of $100 if s/he has only one (1) 
absence, excluding any absences covered by applicable personal 
leave days. 

   
 C. If a food service employee who is assigned to work four (4) or more 

hours uses only two (2) of his/her Personal Illness, Family Illness, or 
unpaid days during the year, s/he will be given a payment of $100.  
A food service employee who is assigned to work less than four (4) 
hours will be given a payment of $50 if s/he has only two (2) 
absences, excluding any absences covered by applicable personal 
leave days. 

   
 D. In order to be eligible for the incentive pay set out in A, B or C 

above, the food service employee must have been employed as of 
January 1st.  If a food service employee is hired after January 1st, 
the incentive payment will be pro-rated on a percentage of the 
workdays after the food service employee was employed. 

   
 E. For the purpose of the incentive program, Personal Illness, Family 

Illness, or unpaid days will be when a food service employee who is 
assigned to work four (4) or more hours is absent for three (3) or 
more hours, or when a food service employee who is assigned to 
work for less than four (4) hours is absent for any period of time.  
For food service employees who are assigned to work four (4) hours 
or more, absence of less than three (3) hours will be considered a 
half day.  Food service employees who are absent one-half (½) day 
will receive $300; one and one-half (1-1/2) days will receive $150; or 
two and one-half (2-1/2) days will receive $50. 

 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 10 of 19 
 
 
 
Bereavement 
 
Employees who are assigned to work four (4) or more hours shall be entitled to be 
absent from work without loss of compensation on account of death in the 
immediate family for a period extending not more than seven (7) consecutive 
calendar days immediately beyond each death. 
 
“Immediate family” is defined as father, mother, brother, sister, spouse, child, 
grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister-in-law, 
brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or any other member of the family unit 
regularly living in the same household as the employee. 
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend 
the funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted 
by the Superintendent or designee. 
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be 
required or shall elect to enter the military service.  This will permit the employee to 
return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be 
entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) 
calendar year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee 
has received the military pay s/he shall present the check or a copy of the check to 
the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for 
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from temporary 
training or leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position without loss 
of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 11 of 19 
 
 
 
Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular 
employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental 
health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her 
responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 
 
Health Leave – Administrative Regulation 
 
An employee with at least one year’s service, who has used all of his or her personal 
illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and vacation benefits, may be placed on a 
health leave. 
 
 A. After all other available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
   
 B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular 

duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or 
   
 C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the 

Director of Personnel from the appropriate administrator. 
 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within 
thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for termination.  
In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a 
physician.  The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 12 of 19 
 
 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may 
submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating 
the ability to perform the job responsibilities.  Employment will be held for a period 
of up to one (1) year.  After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be 
eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes 
available. 
 
Personal Leave 
 
Food Service employees are entitled to the number of hours equal to two (2) 
workdays for absence for personal reasons during each calendar year without loss of 
pay.  A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the 
appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which 
the absence occurs. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 
 
Personal Leave – Procedure 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee’s supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 
absence. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 13 of 19 
 
 
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole 
purpose of extending the school vacation periods of Fall Recess, Thanksgiving, 
Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break as defined by the school calendar 
unless the employee complies with the following procedure:  
 
 A. Once every five (5) years an employee may use personal business 

hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by 
exchanging two (2) personal business hours for each personal 
business hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

   
 B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the 

Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day. 
   
 C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding 

or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon 
approval of the Superintendent or designee.  For the purpose of 
determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall be defined 
as an unforeseen event which prohibits the employee from attending 
to his/her assigned duties. 

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay 
 
 A. Jury Duty 
   
  All Food Service employees will be granted excused absence when 

they are subpoenaed to serve on the jury.  Such absence shall result 
in no loss of wages.  When the employee has received her/his jury 
duty check, the check or copy of the check shall be presented to the 
payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be 
made from the next payroll check. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 14 of 19 
 
 
   
 B. Witness Duty 
   
  In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, 

except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a court of 
law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be 
granted absence to witness for the time during the working day 
which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to 
three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.  For 
cases involving extended absence to witness, the Superintendent 
may grant additional days with pay, with substitute deduction 
where applicable, or without pay.  When the employee is in receipt of 
his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be presented 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty 
pay will be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not 
be paid when such testimony is given in any employee relations 
related litigation involving the employer or any other school 
employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to testify. 

 
Parental Leave 
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request 
of the employee to the Director of Personnel.  In the event the employee is pregnant, 
the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days after the 
Director of Personnel is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth 
of the child.  For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to 
begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date the child is expected in the home.  
In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived.  Leaves 
may be requested for a period not to exceed one year, and are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which 
s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to re-
employment.  For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group 
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the 
full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 15 of 19 
 
 
 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than six (6) years old shall 
be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the 
adoptive child.  In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must 
notify the Director of Personnel and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the 
request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption.  All such 
leaves shall commence on the date the child is physically turned over to the 
employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
Holidays and Vacations 
 
Holidays 
 
 A. School Year Employees 
   
  Food Service employees who work the school year and four (4) hours 

or more daily, but less than full time, shall be entitled to the 
following legal or recognized holidays without loss of any pay when 
they occur on days which they would have worked if it were not for 
that special day, subject to the provisions below: 

   
  Labor Day 
   
  Thanksgiving Day – two (2) days 
   
  Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 
   
  Presidents’ Day 
   
  Memorial Day 
   
  Christmas Day (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday 

on the Friday preceding or the Monday following) 
   
  Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays. 
   
  Presidents’ Day will be a paid holiday. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 16 of 19 
 
 
   
  Christmas Day will be a paid holiday. 
   
  Any employee who does not work during a two-week pay period will 

not receive pay for that pay period, including days normally paid as 
holidays.  Exceptions include: 

   
 1. When the use of absence or leave benefits is exhausted 

during the pay period. 
   
 2. When all days in the pay period are covered by available paid 

leaves, vacation and/or holidays. 
   
 3. Christmas Day. 
   
 B. Twelve (12) Month Employees 
   
  Twelve (12) month Food Services employees shall be paid for the 

following holidays, when they occur on days which would have been 
worked if it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions 
below: 

   
  New Year's   two (2) days (see A-1-a) 
    
  Martin Luther King Jr. Day  
    
  Presidents Day (see A-4) 
    
  Memorial Day  
    
  Independence Day (see A-2) 
    
  Labor Day  
    
  Thanksgiving   two (2) days (see A-3) 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 17 of 19 
 
 
    
  Christmas   two (2) days (see A-1-a) 
    
 1. During the winter break (when schools are closed) four (4) 

days will be allowed as follows: 
   
 a. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekday, 

they shall be paid holidays, and a classified employee 
may, subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, 
select either but not both December 24 or 
December 26 as a holiday with pay, and may, subject 
to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either 
but not both December 31 or January 2 as a holiday 
with pay.  To be eligible for either of the above 
selections, a classified employee must make such 
request to the immediate supervisor no later than 
December 10. 

   
 b. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekend, 

then both the Friday before and the Monday after shall 
be paid holidays, unless schools are open on one of 
these days, in which case an alternate day will be 
determined. 

   
 2. When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid 

holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following, 
unless school is in session. 

   
 3. Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays. 
   
 4. Presidents’ Day will be a paid holidays. 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 18 of 19 
 
 
 
Vacations 
 
 A. A twelve month Food Services employee who has, as of 

December 31, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for 
less than one (1) calendar year, shall be entitled to one (1) working 
day vacation with pay during the next calendar year, for each full 
month of employment completed, provided no more than ten (10) 
vacation days may be accrued. 

   
 B. A twelve (12) month Food Services employee who has, as of 

December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart 
Community Schools for that entire calendar year, shall be entitled to 
ten (10) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar 
year. 

   
 C. A twelve (12) month Food Services employee who has, as of 

December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart 
Community Schools for six (6) consecutive years, is entitled to 
fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar 
year. 

   
  A twelve (12) month Food Services employee who has, as of 

December 31 of each year, been employed by the Elkhart 
Community Schools for fifteen (15) consecutive years, is entitled to 
twenty (20) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar 
year. 

   
  A twelve month Food Services employee who has, as of December 31 

of each year, been employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for 
twenty (20) consecutive years, is entitled to twenty-five (25) working 
days vacation with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 F. Years shall be considered "consecutive" so long as any interruption 

of service did not include other employment. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.01S/page 19 of 19 
 
 
   
 G. For purposes of computing an employee's number of years of service 

in the school corporation, a school year employee who subsequently 
changes to a twelve (12) month employee status will have the 
number of paid hours as a school year employee divided by 2080 to 
obtain the number of years of school corporation service to be used 
in determining the working days vacation which such twelve (12) 
month employee is entitled to receive under this policy. 

   
 H. Dates requested for use as vacation days shall be submitted to the 

immediate supervisor prior to the first day of requested vacation, 
and shall be subject to the approval of the immediate supervisor.  
When vacation days have been requested and approved but are not 
able to be used due to administrative directive, an extension of up to 
three (3) months will be granted for the use of such day(s). 

   
 I. Vacation days will be available to the staff member during the 

twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6) months 
beyond.  

   
 J. Only twelve (12) month employees will be entitled to paid vacation 

days. 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.02S/page 1 of 15 
 
 
 

MECHANICS’ COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
 
Wage Schedule 
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following schedule for mechanics 
effective January 1, 20176.  In addition, the three percent (3%) employee 
contribution to PERF will be paid by the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 
 Classification Wage Range (per hour) 
   
 Head Mechanic 25.05 – 28.0225.74 – 28.79 
   
 Assistant Head Mechanic 22.82 – 25.0523.45 – 25.74 
   
 * Mechanic I 21.14 – 22.8521.72 – 23.48 
   
 * Mechanic II 19.41 – 21.1419.95 – 21.72 
   
 * Mechanic III 16.61 – 19.4117.07 – 19.95 
   
 Transportation Helper 13.52 – 13.7813.89 – 14.16 
 
*  Night Mechanics and Transportation Helpers also receive a shift differential of 
$.35/hour. 
 
The Corporation will provide mechanics with cold weather gear every three (3) years 
and will replace if damaged as needed. 
 
Any personnel in the mechanic department may be utilized in other areas of 
assignment on a temporary basis to effect an efficient operation of the school system 
as determined by the employer. 
 
An employee who is required to report to work to respond to an emergency outside of 
the employee’s regular work hours will be paid for a minimum of two (2) hours. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.02S/page 2 of 15 
 
 
 
In addition, a career increment will be paid as follows: 
 
 Years Regularly Employed in Elkhart Community Schools Hourly Increment 
   
 five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) $.20 
   
 ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) $.30 
   
 fifteen (15) or more, but less than twenty (20) $.50 
   
 twenty (20) or more years $.70 
 
Fringe Benefits 
 
 A. Income Protection and Annuities 
   
  The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for 

regular classified employees to purchase income protection and tax 
sheltered annuities.  This is done by specifications and through a 
company or broker approved by the Board of Schools Trustees of the 
Elkhart Community Schools. 

   
 B. Insurance 
   
  In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community 

Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular classified 
employee who is a member of the group hospitalization, major 
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School 
Trustees.  Effective January 1, 2015, the Board will pay $5,500 (for 
single, full-time coverage), $11,000 (for family, full-time coverage), or 
$11,275 (for family, full-time coverage, both employed) of the 
premium cost of a group hospitalization and major medical 
insurance plan, prescription drug, and dental (where applicable) for 
all mechanics who work six or more hours per day.  Effective 
January 1, 2015, the Board will pay $4,400 (for single, half-time 
coverage) or $8,800 (for family, half-time coverage) of the premium 
cost of such plan for all employees who work between four (4) and 
six (6) hours per day. The employee may select one or the other plan 
provided by the Board.   



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.02S/page 3 of 15 
 
 
   
  The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the 

employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the next thousand 
dollars.  The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the 
premium cost of a group long-term disability insurance policy for 
employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 

   
 C. Severance Benefits 
   
  Mechanics who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of 

active service with the Elkhart Community Schools will be eligible 
for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the 
Director of Personnel at least ten (10) working days prior to the last 
date of employment. 

   
 1. Resignation 
   
  Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave 

in the current year of employment.  Vacation days earned in 
the current year shall also be paid to full-time employees.  
Payment for unused personal leave and vacation shall be 
made at the rate of pay in effect at termination.  The effective 
date of resignation shall be established to include use of all 
personal leave and unused vacation days. 

   
 2. Retirement, Death, or Disability - The benefits listed below 

are in addition to those in Section 3-C. 
   
 a. For purposes of this benefit, "retirement" shall be 

defined as resignation by an employee who at the time 
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more 
consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart 
Community Schools.  Only the six (6) months service 
requirement must be met to be eligible for the 
disability or death benefit. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.02S/page 4 of 15 
 
 
   
 b. A maximum of thirty (30) accumulated days of unused 

personal leave will be paid to eligible employees who 
retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled 
while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools. 
Unused vacation days earned in the current year shall 
also be paid prior to retirement, or upon disability 
termination or death of the employee.  In the event of 
death, the benefit shall be paid to the decedent's 
estate. 

   
 c. In addition, employees who are fifty five (55) years of 

age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of 
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart 
Community Schools' group insurance plan for at least 
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in 
that program until age sixty five (65) by paying 100% of 
the premiums in advance at the business office. 

   
 d. When retiring, a mechanic who has ten (10) years of 

service and is at least fifty-five (55) years of age may 
select one of the following benefits based upon the 
employee’s daily rate at the time of retirement: 

   
 1) One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools. 
   
 2) Forty-five percent (45%) of the unused sick leave 

will be paid, in accordance with the provisions 
in the mechanics employee booklet. 

   
 D. Change in Support Staff Classification 
   
  When any classified employee is employed in another classified 

employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years 
of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, 
subject to Board Policy 3413S. 

 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.02S/page 5 of 15 
 
 
 
Absences 
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee's responsibility to notify and give 
the reason for absence to his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible.  This 
notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the employee 
regularly reports for work.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of 
absence.  Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an 
absence policy.  (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when 
pay is not to be received.) 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain 
illness and leave benefits.  Absences for all classified personnel in addition to the 
days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for 
which prior approval has been granted.  Any absence of an employee may, at the 
discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification 
satisfactory to the employer.  Three (3) days' unexcused absences in any one school 
year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or 
termination.  Upon written request received by the appropriate administrator, at 
least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or 
less consecutive working days may be approved.  The best interests of the school 
corporation will be considered. 
 
Illness Absences and Leaves 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence 
 
Full-time classified personnel will be allowed the number of hours equal to one (1) 
workday per month of employment for personal illness/family illness absence.  This 
will provide ninety-six (96) hours of personal illness/family illness absence annually.  
Unused personal illness/family illness absence may accumulate to a total of the 
number of hours equal to 190 days as personal illness days. 
 
As used in this section, “immediate family” includes spouse, child, sister, brother, 
mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, 
grandparent, grandchild, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, and any other member of the 
family unit who is regularly living in the same household as the employee.  “Family 
Unit” shall mean any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or 
any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.02S/page 6 of 15 
 
 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor's approval to return to work 
following an illness. 
 
Job-Related Injury Leave 
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's 
Compensation.  The employee is required to complete an injury report form on the 
day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the 
employer.  Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury 
arising out of and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by 
Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation.  Worker's Compensation benefits 
will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty six and two-thirds 
percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate.  The employee's share of the 
health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or 
insurance will be terminated.  An employee may receive full pay by using available 
illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Personal Illness Leave/Family Illness Leave Incentive Plan 
 
Beginning January 1, 2003, the following Personal Illness Leave/Family Illness 
Leave incentive plan will be effective for all mechanics.  For the purpose of the 
incentive program, the year will be from December 1st to November 30th. 
 
 A. Effective January 1, 2008, if a mechanic does not use any of his/her 

Personal Illness days or Family Illness days during the year, s/he 
will be given a payment of $600 on the following December. 

   
 B. Effective January 1, 2008, if a mechanic uses only one of his/her 

Personal Illness/Family Illness days during the year, s/he will be 
given a payment of $400 on the following December. 

   
 C. Effective January 1, 2008, if a mechanic uses two of his/her 

Personal Illness/Family Illness days during the year, s/he will be 
given a payment of $200 on the following December. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.02S/page 7 of 15 
 
 
   
 D. In order to be eligible for the incentive pay set out in a., b, and c. 

above, the mechanic must have been employed as of December 1st.  
If a mechanic is hired after December 1st, the incentive payment will 
be pro-rated on a percentage of the workdays after the mechanic 
was employed. 

   
 E. For the purpose of the incentive program, a personal illness or 

family illness day will be when a mechanic is absent for three (3) or 
more hours.  Absence of less than three (3) hours will be considered 
a half-day.  Mechanics absent one-half (½) day will receive $500; 
one and one-half (1-1/2) days, $300; or two and a half (2-1/2) days, 
$100. 

 
Bereavement 
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on 
account of death in the immediate family for a period extending not more than 
seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately beyond each death. 
 
"Immediate family" is defined as father, mother, brother, sister, spouse, child, 
grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father in law, mother in law, sister in law, 
brother in law, son in law, daughter in law, or any other member of the family unit 
regularly living in the same household as the employee. 
 
Up to one (1) day's absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend 
the funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted 
by the Superintendent or designee. 
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be 
required or shall elect to enter the military service.  This will permit the employee to 
return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.02S/page 8 of 15 
 
 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be 
entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) 
calendar year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee 
has received the military pay s/he shall present the check or a copy of the check to 
the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for 
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from temporary 
training or leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position without loss 
of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 
Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular 
employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental 
health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her 
responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 
 
Health Leave - Procedure 
 
An employee with at least one year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal 
illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and vacation benefits, may be placed on a 
health leave. 
 
 A. After all other available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
   
 B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular 

duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.02S/page 9 of 15 
 
 
   
 C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the 

Director of Personnel from the appropriate administrator. 
 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within thirty 
days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for termination.  In addition, 
the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a physician.  The 
cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may 
submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating 
the ability to perform the job responsibilities.  Employment will be held for a period 
of up to one year.  After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be 
eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes 
available. 
 
Personal Leave 
 
Mechanics are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) workdays for 
absence for personal reasons during each calendar year without loss of pay.  A 
personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the appropriate 
administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence 
occurs. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 
 
Personal Leave - Procedure 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee's supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 
absence. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.02S/page 10 of 15 
 
 
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole 
purpose of extending the school vacation periods of Fall Recess, Thanksgiving, 
Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break as defined by the school calendar 
unless the employee complies with the following procedure: 
 
 A. Once every five (5) years an employee may use personal business 

hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by 
exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business 
hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

   
 B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the 

Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day. 
   
 C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding 

or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon 
approval of the Superintendent or designee.  For the purpose of 
determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall be defined 
as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending 
to his/her assigned duties. 

 
Therapist Jury and Witness Duty Pay 
 
 A. Jury Duty 
   
  All mechanics will be granted excused absence when they are 

subpoenaed to serve on the jury.  Such absence shall result in no 
loss of wages.  When the employee has received her/his jury duty 
check, the check or copy of the check shall be presented to the 
payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be 
made from the next payroll check. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.02S/page 11 of 15 
 
 
   
 B. Witness Duty 
   
  In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, 

except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a court of 
law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be 
granted absence to witness for the time during the working day 
which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to 
three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.  For 
cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent 
may grant additional days with pay, with substitute deduction 
where applicable, or without pay.  When the employee is in receipt of 
his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be presented 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty 
pay will be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not 
be paid when such testimony is given in any employee relations 
related litigation involving the employer or any other school 
employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to testify. 

 
Parental Leave 
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request 
of the employee to the Director of Personnel.  In the event that the employee is 
pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days 
after the Director of Personnel is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after 
the birth of the child.  For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be 
requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child is 
expected in the home.  In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period 
may be waived.  Leaves may be requested for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and 
are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which 
s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to re-
employment.  For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group 
insurance program for which she or he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying 
the full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.02S/page 12 of 15 
 
 
 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than six (6) years old shall 
be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the 
adoptive child.  In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must 
notify the Director of Personnel and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the 
request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption.  All such 
leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to the 
employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
Holidays and Vacations 
 
Definitions 
 
As used in this policy, the term "school-year employee" means an employee who is 
employed on a school-year basis and works approximately 175 or more days per year, 
and who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours. 
 
Holidays 
 
 A. Full-time classified employees shall be paid for the following 

holidays, when they occur on days which would have been worked if 
it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions below: 

   
 New Year's - two (2) days (see A-1.) 
   
 Martin Luther King Jr. Day  
   
 Presidents Day (see A-4) 
   
 Memorial Day  
   
 Independence Day – two (2) days (see A-2) 
   
 Labor Day  
   
 Thanksgiving - two (2) days (see A-3) 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.02S/page 13 of 15 
 
 
   
 Christmas - two (2) days (see A-1) 
   
 1. During the winter break (when schools are closed) four (4) 

days will be allowed as follows: 
   
 a. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekday, 

they shall be paid holidays, and a classified employee 
may, subject to approval of the immediate 
supervisor, select either but not both December 24 or 
December 26 as a holiday with pay, and may, subject 
to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either 
but not both December 31 or January 2 as a holiday 
with pay.  To be eligible for either of the above 
selections, a classified employee must make such 
request to the immediate supervisor no later than 
December 10. 

   
 b. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekend, 

then both the Friday before and the Monday after shall 
be paid holidays, unless schools are open on one of 
these days, in which case an alternate day will be 
determined. 

   
 2. When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid 

holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following, 
unless school is in session. 

   
 3. Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays. 
   
 4. Presidents’ Day will be a paid holidays. 
   
 5. Holiday/Sunday Overtime:  In the event a mechanic is 

required to work on a Sunday or on Thanksgiving Day, 
Christmas Day, or New Year’s Day, the employee shall be paid 
at two (2) times his/her regular hourly rate of pay for each 
hour worked on such day(s).  This pay shall be in addition to 
holiday pay. 

 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.02S/page 14 of 15 
 
 
 
Vacations 
 
 A. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31, been employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools for less than one (1) calendar year, 
shall be entitled to one (1) working day vacation with pay during the 
next calendar year, for each full month of employment completed, 
provided that no more than ten (10) vacation days may be accrued. 

   
 B. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for that entire 
calendar year, shall be entitled to ten (10) working days vacation 
with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 C. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for six consecutive 
years, is entitled to fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay 
during the next calendar year. 

   
 D. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for fifteen (15) 
consecutive years, is entitled to twenty (20) working days vacation 
with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 E. Full-time employees employed for twenty (20) or more consecutive 

years prior to December 31 are entitled to twenty-five working days 
vacation with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 F. Years shall be considered "consecutive" so long as any 

interruption of service did not include other employment. 
   
 G. For purposes of computing an employee's number of years of 

service in the school corporation, a school-year employee who 
subsequently changes to full-time employee status will have 
the number of paid hours as a school year employee divided by 
2080 to obtain the number of years of school corporation 
service to be used in determining the working days vacation 
which such full-time employee is entitled to receive under this 
policy. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.02S/page 15 of 15 
 
 
   
 H. Dates requested for use as vacation days shall be submitted to 

the immediate supervisor prior to the first day of requested 
vacation, and shall be subject to the approval of the immediate 
supervisor.  When vacation days have been requested and 
approved but are not able to be used due to administrative 
directive, an extension of up to three (3) months will be 
granted for the use of such day(s). 

   
 I. Vacation days will be available to the staff member during the 

twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6) months beyond. 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 1 of 20 
 
 
 

BUS DRIVERS’ COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
 
Wage Schedule 
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following schedule for bus drivers to 
become effective January 1, 20162017.  In addition, the three percent (3%) employee 
contribution to PERF will be paid by the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 
 
 
Step (Rates) 

 
Elkhart Community Schools Experience  
as a Bus Driver 

Bus Driver 
Hourly Rate 
(20162017) 

   
Probationary 0 - 55 days 17.84 18.33 
   
Base 55 days, but not more than two (2) years 18.54 19.05 
   
Advanced Over two (2) years, but not more than five (5) years 19.55 20.09 
   
Experienced Over five (5) years, but not more than 10 years 20.43 20.99 
   
 Over ten (10) years, but not more than 15 years 21.25 
   
 Over fifteen (15) years  21.50 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 2 of 20 
 
Placement at the advanced rate will be determined by the driver’s evaluation.  All 
drivers will be evaluated annually by the Director of Transportation, or designee.  
The evaluation will be discussed with each driver individually.  No benefits will be 
available unless the contracted route driver is under contract for four or more hours.  
In addition, a career increment will be paid as follows: 
 
 Years Regularly Employed in Elkhart Community Schools Hourly Increment 
   
 five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) $.20 
   
 ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) $.30 
   
 fifteen (15) or more, but less than twenty (20) $.50 
   
 twenty (20) or more years $.70 
 
 
Extra-Curricular Trips 
 
For extracurricular trips, field trips, and other such trips other than the regular 
transporting of students to school from their place of residence and back to their 
place of residence from school each school day, a bus driver shall 
receive $12.7513.00/hour with a minimum trip pay of 2 hours for weekday trips 
and five (5) hours for holiday or weekend trips.  Drivers will not be paid additional 
clean-up time for extra-curricular trips, but are expected to maintain bus 
cleanliness.  When outdoor conditions occur during the activity which is the purpose 
of the trip, resulting in an unusual amount of clean-up (i.e. football or soccer in 
muddy conditions, etc.), the driver may apply for payment for the required clean-up 
time. 
 
Unassigned Drivers 
 
Unassigned drivers will be paid at one of the above rates as determined by the 
Director of Transportation.   
 
Unassigned drivers required to report to dispatch and wait for the assignment of a 
route shall be paid at the extra trip rate for any waiting time not covered by the 
two-hour minimum or the compensation for the route they are assigned to that day. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 3 of 20 
 
Driver Contracts 
 
All drivers shall be provided a contract based on the rates listed above.  The contract 
shall provide a minimum driving assignment of two (2) hours for morning routes, 
two (2) hours for afternoon routes, and two (2) hours for any route which is not an 
extension of either morning or afternoon routes.  Any route regularly scheduled to 
run on Sundays or Board of School Trustees approved holidays, (e.g. for the visually 
or hearing impaired), shall be paid a three (3) hour minimum on those days. The 
contract shall provide a minimum driving assignment of four (4) hours per day for 
wages if drivers work both morning and afternoon.  Effective July 1, 2006, in the 
event a driver’s assigned route consists of three (3) separate runs in both the 
morning and the afternoon (i.e. secondary/elementary/elementary or 
secondary/elementary/Head Start) the minimum for that route shall be three (3) 
hours in the morning and three (3) hours in the afternoon.  (The foregoing shall not 
be applicable to mixed runs (i.e. high school/middle school).  Letters of employment 
status indicating reasonable assurance of employment in the following year will be 
provided to all drivers in good standing at the conclusion of the school year.  All 
routes shall be timed from departure from the bus garage until return to the bus 
garage.  In emergency situations, such drivers may be required to make additional 
runs which can be completed within the time frame of the contract.  Additional runs 
which cause extension beyond the normal assigned hours shall be reimbursed in 
accordance with the driver’s normal hourly rate.  In addition, each bus driver will be 
paid for thirty (30) minutes each day for clean-up, paper work, and service time. 
 
Time Study 
 
In the event of a significant difference between the driver’s time study and the 
Transportation Department’s timing for the route, the driver may appeal to the 
Director of Transportation or Assistant Director of Transportation to resolve this 
discrepancy.  The decision of the Director of Transportation or Assistant Director of 
Transportation may be reviewed by the Executive Director of Personnel and Legal 
Services. The decision of the Executive Director of Personnel and Legal Services shall 
be final. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 4 of 20 
 
 
 
Work Schedule 
 
Drivers will be required to report for duty two times in addition to all student 
attendance days.  Drivers will be paid four (4) hours at their hourly rate for these 
days.  These days will be scheduled as follows: 
 
 A. State Safety Meeting 
   
 B. Fall Training Session 
 
Mandatory meetings, with the exception of contract signing where all drivers are 
required to attend, will be paid at their hourly rate. 
 
Contract signing, mandatory meetings scheduled for smaller groups of drivers, and 
individuals for specific training and information sharing will be paid at the extra trip 
rate. 
 
Drivers will receive a minimum of one hour pay for these meetings and meetings 
beyond a full hour will be paid in 15 minute increments. 
 
Vehicle Clean-up, Paperwork, and Spot Check 
 
Each bus driver will be paid one-half (1/2) hour (.3 hours in the morning and .2 
hours in the afternoon) for each working day for clean up, service time, and paper 
work.  Each driver is expected to keep his/her assigned vehicle in a good state of 
cleanliness at all times. 
 
Uncleanliness on any one spot check by the Director of Transportation will be 
sufficient cause for the discontinuance of this payment for five (5) days.  Normal 
accumulation from the day's route will be excluded.  A second spot check showing 
lack of cleanliness will result in a suspension without pay of the driver for two (2) 
days.  Further violations can be cause for termination. 
 
Stopping Enroute or Layover 
 
Drivers will be allowed to stop enroute or on layover only for food, coffee, shopping, 
etc., with permission of the Transportation Office, as per established guidelines. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 5 of 20 
 
 
 
Drug/Alcohol Testing 
 
Drivers will be allowed to stop enroute or on layover only for food, coffee, shopping, 
etc., with permission of the Transportation Office, as per established guidelines.  
(See attached.) 
 
Drug/Alcohol Testing 
 
Any driver required to be tested for the drug/alcohol program will receive one (1) 
hour’s route pay at his/her current hourly rate.  (This shall not include pre-
employment testing.) 
 
School Delays 
 
In the event the start of the school day is delayed on account of weather conditions, 
drivers will receive one (1) hour’s route pay for the delay. 
 
Early Release 
 
Drivers may be required to drive more than their regular number of routes so as to 
facilitate an early release of students to conduct parent-teacher conferences, or for 
other purposes.  Drivers who are already assigned to drive a morning, mid-day, and 
afternoon route will be paid for their actual driving time, but not less than one (1) 
hour’s route pay, for driving one of their routes early on an early release day.  
Drivers who are regularly assigned to drive only a morning and an afternoon route 
will receive two (2) hour’s route pay for driving one of their routes early on an early 
release day. 
 
Extra Trip Routes 
 
Drivers who are assigned to an extra trip route (e.g. remediation, etc.) who are 
required by the Director of Transportation/Designee to pre-drive an extra trip route 
will receive two hours’ extra trip pay to fulfill these responsibilities. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 6 of 20 
 
 
 
Special Route Responsibilities:  Kindergarten  
 
Drivers who are assigned to morning or afternoon routes which include kindergarten 
students are responsible for contacting the parents of each kindergarten student 
prior to the first day of kindergarten. Drivers on these morning and afternoon routes 
are expected to contact the parents of their kindergarten students and determine 
whether the students can be picked up at an existing stop or whether a new stop 
will be established. Drivers will be required to turn the necessary paperwork in to 
the Transportation Office for the kindergarten students on their route.  Drivers will 
receive two (2) hours route pay for fulfilling these responsibilities. 
 
Special Route Responsibilities:  Special Needs Students and Other Mid-day Routes 
 
Drivers who are assigned to a route transporting special needs students, or a mid-
day route transporting students are responsible for driving and checking their 
routes, preparing their route book, and contacting parents prior to the first day of 
school.  Drivers on these routes will receive two (2) hour’s route pay for fulfilling 
these responsibilities. 
 
When drivers are regularly required to drive a different bus for their mid-day route, 
and the bus has not already been pre-tripped, the driver will receive an additional 
fifteen (15) minutes per day to pre-trip, fuel and clean the bus. 
 
Substitute Driver Contracts 
 
A limited number of substitutes will be contracted substitute drivers.  Pay will be 
only for days worked.  Insurance and Public Employee Retirement Fund (PERF) will 
be available after successful completion of probation. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 7 of 20 
 
 
 
Bus Driver Routes/Bidding 
 
Seniority List 
 
One seniority list, including all bus drivers, shall be maintained and updated. The 
driver’s date of seniority will be determined by his/her first day on the payroll with 
Elkhart Community Schools with a valid CDL license and working in a bus driver 
classification. In the event more than one (1) driver starts on the same day, meeting 
the above requirements, seniority will be determined by the date and time of 
application.  Drivers employed prior to January 1, 2003, shall retain their seniority 
date assigned by Transportation on December 31, 2002.  When a driver’s 
employment is severed, the driver, should s/he be re-employed, will be placed at the 
bottom of the seniority list. 
 
Bidding on routes and Equipment 
 
Bidding on routes will be determined by the Director of Transportation with seniority 
as the key factor.  When a route opens, it will be posted within ten (10) working 
days.  Only active drivers will be eligible to bid.  Bids may be made for five (5) 
working days.  The route will be assigned and posted within fifteen (15) working 
days.  Drivers will only be allowed to change routes twice during a school year.  If a 
route is discontinued while a driver is contracted, the driver will continue to be 
under contract at the appropriate pay rate and shall bid on all posted positions of 
comparable pay until s/he is the successful bidder.  If routes are discontinued 
during the summer, the drivers will bid on the routes of drivers with the least 
seniority, and those drivers will be placed, according to their seniority, at the top of 
the substitute list.  Any mid-day runs and the fall loop (which begins in August) are 
to be posted on May 1st or the next working day and are to stay up for five (5) 
working days.  If the successful bidder does not return as an active driver in the fall, 
the mid-day run or loop will be awarded to the next bidder in line.  Any driver 
absence, including those related to medical, family, and unpaid/excused reasons for 
a period extending beyond sixteen (16) work weeks, will result in that route being 
posted for bidding, and any mid-day route coming open as the result of this, will be 
offered to the next senior substitute driver.  



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 8 of 20 
 
 
 
Summer School and Mid-Day Routes 
 
Notice for bidding on summer school and mid-day routes is to be posted on May 1st, 
or the next working day, and is to stay up for (5) working days.  Eligibility for routes 
will be based on seniority.  Assignment of routes will be determined by the Director 
of Transportation.  Drivers who are not awarded a mid-day route shall be placed on 
a list based on seniority and will be called to substitute.  If a mid-day route opens 
during the school year, the eligible driver with the highest seniority will be awarded 
a route.  Assignment will be determined by the Director of Transportation.  Any 
route filled during the year will be considered open at the time of bidding.  Drivers 
whose regular route is six (6) hours or more will not be eligible to bid or drive as a 
substitute on mid-day routes.  Drivers’ who elected not to sign up for mid-day routes 
in May, will have the opportunity to sign up to work for the remainder of the school 
year as a substitute driver, by seniority and qualification, only on mid-day routes.  A 
driver with an excessive number of refusals may be removed from consideration. A 
driver who is removed from the list shall receive written notification of removal.  
Drivers who so qualify may sign up during the first five (5) working days in January.  
Substitute driving opportunities will be awarded based upon driver seniority. 
 
Fringe Benefits 
 
 A. Income Protection and Annuities 
   
  The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for 

regular classified employees to purchase income protection and tax 
sheltered annuities.  This is done by specifications and through a 
company or broker approved by the Board of Schools Trustees of the 
Elkhart Community Schools. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 9 of 20 
 
 
   
 B. Insurance 
   
  In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community 

Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular classified 
employee who is a member of the group hospitalization, major 
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School 
Trustees.  Effective January 1, 2015, the Board will pay $5,500 (for 
single, full-time coverage), $11,000 (for family, full-time coverage), or 
$11,275 (for family, full-time coverage, both employed) of the 
premium cost of a group hospitalization and major medical 
insurance plan, prescription drug, and dental (where applicable) for 
all mechanics who work six or more hours per day.  Effective 
January 1, 2015, the Board will pay $4,950 (for single, half-time 
coverage) or $9,900 (for family, half-time coverage), or $10,560 (for 
family, half-time coverage, both employed) of the premium cost of 
such plan for all employees who work between four (4) and six (6) 
hours per day. The employee may select one or the other plan 
provided by the Board.   

   
  The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the 

employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the next thousand 
dollars.  The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the 
premium cost of a group long-term disability insurance policy for 
employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 10 of 20 
 
 
   
 C. Severance Benefits 
   
  Bus Drivers who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of 

active service with the Elkhart Community Schools will be eligible 
for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the 
Executive Director of Personnel and Legal Services at least ten (10) 
working days prior to the last date of employment. 

   
 1. Resignation 
   
  Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave 

in the current year of employment. Payment for unused 
personal leave shall be made at the rate of pay in effect at 
termination.  The effective date of resignation shall be 
established to include use of all personal leave. 

   
 2. Retirement, Death, or Disability - The benefits listed below 

are in addition to those in Section 2-C. 
   
 a. For purposes of this benefit, “retirement” shall be 

defined as resignation by an employee who at the time 
of retirement is age sixty (60) or older, and has ten (10) 
or more consecutive years; or who is age fifty-five (55) 
or older, and has fifteen (15) or more years of 
employment in the Elkhart Community Schools.  
Accumulated days of unused personal leave will be 
paid employees who retire, die or become totally 
permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart 
Community Schools.  In the event of death, the benefit 
shall be paid to the decedent’s estate.  Only the six 
months service requirement must be met to be eligible 
for the disability or death benefit.  In addition, 
beginning in 1982, at the maximum rate of two (2) 
days per year, accumulated days of unused sick leave 
will be paid as a part of this benefit. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 11 of 20 
 
 
   
  At the time of retirement, a Bus Driver shall receive 

pay for accumulated illness leave not to exceed two (2) 
days per year up to a maximum of thirty (30) days or 
forty-five percent (45 %) of accumulated illness leave, 
whichever is greater.  In the event of the death of a Bus 
Driver, while in the active employ of Elkhart 
Community Schools, said payment should be made to 
the employee’s beneficiary. 

   
 b. In addition, employees who are fifty five (55) years of 

age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of 
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart 
Community Schools' group insurance plan for at least 
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in 
that program until age sixty five (65) by paying 100% of 
the premiums in advance at the business office. 

   
 D. Change in Support Staff Classification 
   
  When any classified employee is employed in another classified 

employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years 
of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, 
subject to Board Policy 3413S. 

 
Absences 
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee's responsibility to notify and give 
the reason for absence to his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible.  This 
notice is to be given at least one (1) hour before the time that the employee regularly 
reports for work.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence.  
Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an absence 
policy.  (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay is not 
to be received.) 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 12 of 20 
 
 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain 
illness and leave benefits.  Absences for all classified personnel in addition to the 
days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for 
which prior approval has been granted.  Any absence of an employee may, at the 
discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification 
satisfactory to the employer.  Three (3) days' unexcused absences in any one school 
year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or 
termination.  Upon written request received by the appropriate administrator, at 
least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or 
less consecutive working days may be approved.  The best interests of the school 
corporation will be considered. 
 
Illness Absences and Leaves 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence 
 
Drivers working four (4) hours or more per day will be provided with the number of 
hours equal to one (1) workday per month of employment for personal illness/family 
illness leave accumulate to 160 days.  For any driver who completes probation after 
January 1, one (1) day shall be provided for each full month of regular employment. 
 
As used in this section, “immediate family” includes spouse, child, sister, brother, 
mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, 
grandparent, grandchild, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, and any other member of the 
family unit who is regularly living in the same household as the employee.  “Family 
Unit” shall mean any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or 
any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian. 
 
Extended Paid Illness Absence: 
 
Each contract year, a driver shall be eligible, upon submission of a written 
application to the Transportation Office, for extended paid illness absence days 
according to the following: 
 
 A. Drivers will be eligible for additional extended absence days based 

upon the following formula.  For each full year as a driver, up to 
five (5) days to a maximum of fifty (50) days for ten (10) years. 
Drivers may use paid or unpaid benefit days. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 13 of 20 
 
 
   
 B. These days shall be provided, after a similar qualifying period of 

five (5) working days per year to a maximum of fifty (50) working 
days for ten (10) years, to any driver who has an extended illness 
absence for which medical verification acceptable to the employer is 
provided. 

   
 C. When an employee has a second extended illness absence, the 

qualifying factor will only be as great as five (5) times the number of 
full years which has elapsed since the previous extended illness 
absence, with a minimum of five (5) working days. 

 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work 
following an illness. 
 
Personal Illness Leave/Family Illness Leave/Unpaid Leave Incentive Plan 
 
For the purpose of the incentive program, the year will be from January 1st to 
December 31st. 
 
 A. If a contracted route driver does not use any of his/her Personal 

Illness days, Family Illness days, or unpaid time during the year 
(excluding summer school), s/he will be given a payment of $600 on 
the following January. 

   
 B. If a driver uses only one of his/her Personal Illness days, Family 

Illness days, or unpaid time during the year (excluding summer 
school), s/he will be given a payment of  $400 on the following 
January. 

   
 C. If a driver uses two of his/her Personal Illness days, Family Illness 

days, or unpaid time during the year (excluding summer school), 
s/he will be given a payment of  $200 on the following January. 

   
 D. In order to be eligible for the incentive pay set out in A, B, or C, 

above, the driver must have been a contracted route driver as of 
December 1st.  If a driver is hired after December 1st, the incentive 
payment will be pro-rated on a percentage of the workdays after the 
driver was employed. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 14 of 20 
 
 
   
 E. For the purpose of the incentive program, a personal illness or 

family illness day will be when a driver is absent for three (3) or 
more hours.  An absence of less than three (3) hours will be 
considered a half-day.  Drivers absent one-half (½) day will receive 
$500, one and one-half (1-1/2) days - $300, or two and 
one-half (2-1/2) days - $100.  Unpaid time will follow the same 
pattern (i.e. three (3) or more hours will be considered a day; less 
than three (3) hours will be considered a half-day. 

 
Job-Related Injury Leave 
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's 
Compensation.  The employee is required to complete an injury report form on the 
day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the 
employer.  Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury 
arising out of and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by 
Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation.  Worker's Compensation benefits 
will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty six and two-thirds 
percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate.  The employee's share of the 
health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or 
insurance will be terminated.  An employee may receive full pay by using available 
illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Bereavement 
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on 
account of death in the immediate family for a period extending not more than 
seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately beyond each death. 
 
"Immediate family" is defined as father, mother, brother, sister, spouse, child, 
grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister-in-law, 
brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or any other member of the family unit 
regularly living in the same household as the employee. 
 
Up to one (1) day's absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend 
the funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted 
by the Superintendent or designee. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 15 of 20 
 
 
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be 
required or shall elect to enter the military service.  This will permit the employee to 
return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be 
entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) 
calendar year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee 
has received the military pay s/he shall present the check or a copy of the check to 
the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for 
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from temporary 
training or leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position without loss 
of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 
Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular 
employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental 
health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her 
responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 16 of 20 
 
 
 
Health Leave - Procedure 
 
An employee with at least one year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal 
illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and vacation benefits, may be placed on a 
health leave. 
 
 A. After all other available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
   
 B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular 

duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or 
   
 C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the 

Executive Director of Personnel and Leal Services from the 
appropriate administrator. 

 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within 
thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for termination.  
In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a 
physician.  The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may 
submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating 
the ability to perform the job responsibilities.  Employment will be held for a period 
of up to one year.  After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be 
eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes 
available. 
 
Personal Leave 
 
Drivers working four (4) hours or more per day will be provided with two (2) days of 
personal leave on January 1.  Any driver completing probation before July will 
receive two (2) days and after July 1 will receive one (1) day. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 17 of 20 
 
 
 
Personal Leave – Procedure 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee’s supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 
absence. 
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole 
purpose of extending the school vacation periods of Fall Recess, Thanksgiving, 
Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break as defined by the school calendar 
unless the employee complies with the following procedure: 
 
 A. Once every five (5) years an employee may use personal business 

hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by 
exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business 
hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

   
 B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the 

Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day. 
   
 C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding 

or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon 
approval of the Superintendent or designee.  For the purpose of 
determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall be defined 
as an unforeseen event which prohibits the employee from attending 
to his or her assigned duties. 

 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 18 of 20 
 
 
 
Therapist Jury and Witness Duty Pay 
 
 A. Jury Duty 
   
  All classified employees will be granted excused absence when they 

are subpoenaed to serve on the jury.  Such absence shall result in 
no loss of wages.  When the employee has received her/his jury duty 
check, the check or copy of the check shall be presented to the 
payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be 
made from the next payroll check. 

   
 B. Witness Duty 
   
  In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, 

except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a court of 
law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be 
granted absence to witness for the time during the working day 
which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to 
three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.  For 
cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent 
may grant additional days with pay, with substitute deduction 
where applicable, or without pay.  When the employee is in receipt of 
his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be presented 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty 
pay will be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not 
be paid when such testimony is given in any employee relations 
related litigation involving the employer or any other school 
employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to testify. 

 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 19 of 20 
 
 
 
Parental Leave 
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request 
of the employee to the Executive Director of Personnel and Legal Services.  In the 
event that the employee is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time 
between thirty (30) days after the Executive Director of Personnel and Legal Services 
is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth of the child.  For 
employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time 
within thirty (30) days of the date that the child is expected in the home.  In cases of 
emergency the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived.  Leaves may be 
requested for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which 
s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to 
re-employment.  For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any 
group insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by 
paying the full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office. 
 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than six (6) years old shall 
be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the 
adoptive child.  In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must 
notify the Executive Director of Personnel and Legal Services and the employee’s 
immediate supervisor of the request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the 
application for adoption.  All such leaves shall commence on the date that the child 
is physically turned over to the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
Holidays and Vacations 
 
Definitions 
 
As used in this policy, the term "school-year employee" means an employee who is 
employed on a school-year basis and works approximately 175 or more days per year, 
and who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.03S/page 20 of 20 
 
 
 
Holidays 
 
School-year classified employees shall be paid for the following holidays, when they 
occur on days which would have been worked if it were not for that special day, 
subject to the provisions below: 
 
 A. Martin Luther King Jr. Day 
   
 B. Presidents Day 
   
 C. Memorial Day 
   
 D. Labor Day 
   
 E. Thanksgiving Day and the day following - two (2) days 
   
 F. Christmas Day - if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday 

on the Friday preceding or the Monday following. 
 
Labor Management Committee 
 
Labor Management Committee: The drivers’ committee shall, upon request, have the 
right to meet on a monthly basis with the Supervisor of Transportation and, when 
necessary, the Executive Director of Personnel and Legal Services.  The committee 
shall provide the Supervisor of Transportation an agenda of topics to be discussed 
two work days before meeting. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.04S/page 1 of 13 
 
 
 

BUS HELPERS’ WAGE SCHEDULE 
 
 
Wage Schedule 
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for bus 
helpers to become effective January 1, 20162017.   
 
In addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by the 
Elkhart Community Schools. 
 
Step Elkhart Community Schools Experience as a Bus Helper Hourly Rate  
   
1 0 days or more, but less than 55 days (probationary rate) 9.709.97 
   
2. 55 days, but not more than one (1) year 10.3610.65 
   
3 one (1) year or more, but less than two (2) years 11.0111.31 
   
4 two (2) years or more, but less than three (3) years 11.6711.99 
   
5. three (3) or more 12.3712.71 
 
Bus helpers are primarily responsible for the safety of students while they are being 
transported to and from school 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.04S/page 2 of 13 
 
 
 
In the event a Bus Helper’s assigned route consists of three (3) separate runs in both 
the morning and the afternoon (i.e. secondary/elementary/elementary or 
secondary/elementary/Head Start) the Bus Helper shall be entitled to a minimum of 
three (3) hours pay in the morning and three (3) hours pay in the afternoon.  This 
shall not be applicable to mixed runs (for example: high school/middle school). 
 
 
 Career Increment Schedule 
 
 Years Regularly Employed in Elkhart Community Schools Hourly Increment 
   
 five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) $.20 
   
 ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) $.30 
   
 fifteen (15) or more, but less than twenty (20) $.50 
   
 twenty (20) or more years $.70 
 
Fringe Benefits 
 
 A. Income Protection and Annuities 
   
  The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for 

regular classified employees to purchase income protection and tax 
sheltered annuities.  This is done by specifications and through a 
company or broker approved by the Board of Schools Trustees of the 
Elkhart Community Schools. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.04S/page 3 of 13 
 
 
   
 B. Insurance 
   
  In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community 

Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular classified 
employee who is a member of the group hospitalization, major 
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School 
Trustees.  Effective January 1, 2015, the Board will pay $5,500 (for 
single, full-time coverage), $11,000 (for family, full-time coverage), or 
$11,275 (for family, full-time coverage, both employed) of the 
premium cost of a group hospitalization and major medical 
insurance plan, prescription drug, and dental (where applicable) for 
all mechanics who work six or more hours per day.  Effective 
January 1, 2015, the Board will pay $4,950 (for single, half-time 
coverage) or $9,900 (for family, half-time coverage), or $10,560 (for 
family, half-time coverage, both employed) of the premium cost of 
such plan for all employees who work between four (4) and six (6) 
hours per day. The employee may select one or the other plan 
provided by the Board.   

   
 C. Severance Benefits 
   
  Bus Helpers who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of 

active service with the Elkhart Community Schools will be eligible 
for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the 
Director of Personnel at least ten (10) working days prior to the last 
date of employment. 

   
 1. Resignation 
   
  Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave 

in the current year of employment.  Payment for unused 
personal leave and vacation shall be made at the rate of pay 
in effect at termination.  The effective date of resignation shall 
be established to include use of all personal leave and unused 
vacation days. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.04S/page 4 of 13 
 
 
   
 2. Retirement, Death, or Disability - The benefits listed below 

are in addition to those in Section 2-C. 
   
 a. For purposes of this benefit, "retirement" shall be 

defined as resignation by an employee who at the time 
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more 
consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart 
Community Schools.  Only the six months service 
requirement must be met to be eligible for the 
disability or death benefit. 

   
 b. A maximum of thirty (30) accumulated days of unused 

personal leave will be paid to eligible employees who 
retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled 
while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools.  In 
the event of death, the benefit shall be paid to the 
decedent's estate. 

   
 c. Upon retirement, a bus helper who has ten (10) years 

or more of service and who is age fifty-five (55) or older 
is eligible to receive a payment equal to the greater of 
the following: 

   
 1) One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools; or 
   
 2) Forty percent (40%) of the unused illness 

absence leave that has been accumulated by the 
employee. 

   
 d. In addition, employees who are fifty five (55) years of 

age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of 
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart 
Community Schools' group insurance plan for at least 
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in 
that program until age sixty five (65) by paying 100% of 
the premiums in advance at the business office. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.04S/page 5 of 13 
 
   
 D. Change in Support Staff Classification 
   
  When any classified employee is employed in another classified 

employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years 
of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, 
subject to Board Policy 3413S. 

 
Absences 
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee's responsibility to notify and give 
the reason for absence to his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible.  This 
notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the employee 
regularly reports for work.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of 
absence.  Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an 
absence policy.  (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when 
pay is not to be received.) 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain 
illness and leave benefits.  Absences for all classified personnel in addition to the 
days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for 
which prior approval has been granted.  Any absence of an employee may, at the 
discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification 
satisfactory to the employer.  Three (3) days' unexcused absences in any one school 
year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or 
termination.  Upon written request received by the appropriate administrator, at 
least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or 
less consecutive working days may be approved.  The best interests of the school 
corporation will be considered. 
 
Illness Absences and Leaves 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence 
 
Regular school-year classified employees will be allowed the number of hours equal 
to one (1) work day per month of employment for personal illness/family illness 
leave. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.04S/page 6 of 13 
 
 
 
Immediate family shall be interpreted as spouse, children, sister, brother, mother, 
father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, grandparents, 
grandchildren, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, or any other members of the family unit 
living in the same household.  “Family Unit” shall mean any person related to the 
employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the employee is the 
legal guardian. 
 
Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness absence to a total of the 
number of hours equal to one hundred twenty (120) work days.  Use of accumulated 
sick leave by a school year employee terminates at the close of the school year.  It 
cannot be used again unless the employee is employed for the following school year 
or employed at a later date. 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor's approval to return to work 
following an illness. 
 
Job-Related Injury 
 
An employee injured in the performance of his or her duties is eligible for Worker's 
Compensation. The employee is required to complete an injury report form on the 
day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the 
employer.  Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury 
arising out of and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by 
Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation.  Worker's Compensation benefits 
will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty six and two thirds percent 
(66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate.  The employee's share of the 
health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or 
insurance will be terminated.  An employee may receive full pay by using available 
illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Personal Illness Leave/Family Illness Leave/Unpaid Leave Incentive Plan 
 
 A. If a Bus Helper does not use any of his/her Personal Illness days, 

Family Illness days, or unpaid time during the year (excluding 
summer school), s/he will be given a payment of $600 on the 
following January. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.04S/page 7 of 13 
 
 
   
 B. If a Bus Helper uses only one of his/her Personal Illness days, 

Family Illness days, or unpaid time during the year (excluding 
summer school), s/he will be given a payment of  $400 on the 
following January. 

   
 C. If a Bus Helper uses two (2) of his/her Personal Illness days, Family 

Illness days, or unpaid time during the year (excluding summer 
school), s/he will be given a payment of  $200 on the following 
January. 

   
 D. In order to be eligible for the incentive pay set out in A, B, or C, 

above, the Bus Helper must have been a contracted route Helper as 
of December 1st.  If a Bus Helper is hired after December 1st, the 
incentive payment will be pro-rated on a percentage of the workdays 
after the Helper was employed. 

   
 E. For the purpose of the incentive program, a personal illness or 

family illness day will be when a Bus Helper is absent for three (3) or 
more hours.  An absence of less than three (3) hours will be 
considered a half-day.  Bus Helpers absent one-half (½) day will 
receive $500, one and one-half (1-1/2) days - $300, or two and 
one-half (2-1/2) days - $100.   

 
Bereavement 
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on 
account of death in the immediate family for a period extending not more than 
seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately beyond each death. 
 
"Immediate family" is defined as father, mother, brother, sister, spouse, child, 
grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister-in-law, 
brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or any other member of the family unit 
regularly living in the same household as the employee. 
 
Up to one (1) day's absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend 
the funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted 
by the Superintendent or designee. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.04S/page 8 of 13 
 
 
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be 
required or shall elect to enter the military service.  This will permit the employee to 
return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be 
entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) 
calendar year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee 
has received the military pay s/he shall present the check or a copy of the check to 
the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for 
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from temporary 
training or leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position without loss 
of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 
Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular 
employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental 
health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her 
responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.04S/page 9 of 13 
 
 
 
Health Leave - Procedure 
 
An employee with at least one year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal 
illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and vacation benefits, may be placed on a 
health leave. 
 
 A. After all other available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
   
 B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular 

duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or 
   
 C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the 

Executive Director of Personnel and Leal Services from the 
appropriate administrator. 

 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within 
thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for termination.  
In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a 
physician.  The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may 
submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating 
the ability to perform the job responsibilities.  Employment will be held for a period 
of up to one year.  After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be 
eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes 
available. 
 
Personal Leave 
 
Bus Helpers are entitled to the number of hours equal to two (2) workdays for 
absence for personal reasons during each calendar year without loss of pay.  A 
personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the appropriate 
administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence 
occurs. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.04S/page 10 of 13 
 
 
 
Personal Leave – Procedure 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee’s supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 
absence. 
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole 
purpose of extending the school vacation periods of Fall Recess, Thanksgiving, 
Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break as defined by the school calendar 
unless the employee complies with the following procedure: 
 
 A. Once every five (5) years an employee may use personal business 

hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by 
exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business 
hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

   
 B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the 

Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day. 
   
 C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding 

or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon 
approval of the Superintendent or designee.  For the purpose of 
determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall be defined 
as an unforeseen event which prohibits the employee from attending 
to his or her assigned duties. 

 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.04S/page 11 of 13 
 
 
 
Therapist Jury and Witness Duty Pay 
 
 A. Jury Duty 
   
  All Bus Helpers will be granted excused absence when they are 

subpoenaed to serve on the jury.  Such absence shall result in no 
loss of wages.  When the employee has received her/his jury duty 
check, the check or copy of the check shall be presented to the 
payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be 
made from the next payroll check. 

   
 B. Witness Duty 
   
  In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, 

except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a court of 
law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be 
granted absence to witness for the time during the working day 
which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to 
three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.   

   
  For cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent 

may grant additional days with pay, with substitute deduction 
where applicable, or without pay.  When the employee is in receipt of 
his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be presented 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty 
pay will be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not 
be paid when such testimony is given in any employee relations 
related litigation involving the employer or any other school 
employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to testify. 

 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.04S/page 12 of 13 
 
 
 
Parental Leave 
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request 
of the employee to the Director of Personnel.  In the event that the employee is 
pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days 
after the Director of Personnel is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after 
the birth of the child.  For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be 
requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child is 
expected in the home.  In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period 
may be waived.  Leaves may be requested for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and 
are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which 
s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to 
re-employment.  For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any 
group insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by 
paying the full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office. 
 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than six (6) years old shall 
be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the 
adoptive child.  In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must 
notify the Director of Personnel and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the 
request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption.  All such 
leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to the 
employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
Holidays and Vacations 
 
Definitions 
 
As used in this policy, the term "school-year employee" means an employee who is 
employed on a school-year basis and works approximately 175 or more days per year, 
and who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.04S/page 13 of 13 
 
 
 
Holidays 
 
School-year classified employees shall be paid for the following holidays, when they 
occur on days which would have been worked if it were not for that special day, 
subject to the provisions below: 
 
 A. Martin Luther King Jr. Day 
   
 B. Presidents Day 
   
 C. Memorial Day 
   
 D. Labor Day 
   
 E. Thanksgiving Day and the day following - two (2) days 
   
 F. Christmas Day - if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday 

on the Friday preceding or the Monday following. 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.05S/page 1 of 2 
 
 
 

SUPPORT STAFF SALARY SCHEDULE  
(Maintenance Personnel) 

 
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for 
maintenance personnel to be effective January 1, 20162017.  In addition, the 
three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by the Elkhart 
Community Schools. 
 
 Classification Hourly Wage Range 
   
M-1 Plumber 24.44 - 28.7325.11 – 29.52 
   
M-3 HVAC 24.44 - 28.7325.11 – 29.52 
   
M-4 Electrician 25.09 - 28.7325.78 – 29.52 
   
M-6 Electronics 25.09 - 28.7325.78 – 29.52 
 
Positions M-3 through M-6 may also have an additional person(s) in the 
classification whose range shall be seventy percent (70%) to approximately ninety 
percent (90%), but in no case a salary higher than that of the lead person. 
 
Range movement will be at the discretion of the Director of Building Services, but 
shall be at a rate which would move a person to the top of the range in a three (3) to 
five (5) year period, unless job performance merits a greater or lesser increase.  Such 
performance shall be discussed with the employee when the increase is less than 
normal. 
 
Any personnel in the maintenance department may be utilized in other areas of 
assignment on a temporary basis to effect an efficient operation of the school system 
as determined by the employer. 
 
Uniforms issued in the calendar year in which the employee leaves the Elkhart 
Community Schools shall be returned to the Elkhart Community Schools.  Upon 
request, up to three uniforms per year will be issued. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.05S/page 2 of 2 
 
 
 
In addition, a career increment will be paid as follows: 
 
 
 Career Increment Schedule 
 
 Years Regularly Employed in Elkhart Community Schools Hourly Increment 
   
 five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) $.20 
   
 ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) $.30 
   
 fifteen (15) or more, but less than twenty (20) $.50 
   
 twenty (20) or more years $.70 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 1 of 20 
 
 
 

SECRETARIAL/BUSINESS COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for 
secretaries commencing January 1, 20162017.  In addition, the three percent (3%) 
employee contribution to PERF will be paid by the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 

    II II.3 II.6 III III.3 III.6 IV IV.3 IV.6 

1 0 – 55 days 11.24 
11.55 

11.42 
11.74 

11.65 
11.97 

11.85 
12.18 

12.14 
12.48 

12.45 
12.79 

12.76 
13.11 

13.23 
13.60 

13.67 
14.05 

2 55 days – 1 year 11.51 
11.83 

11.75 
12.07 

12.02 
12.35 

12.29 
12.63 

12.72 
13.07 

13.14 
13.50 

13.57 
13.94 

14.00 
14.39 

14.44 
14.84 

3 1 year plus 11.85
12.18 

12.15 
12.49 

12.45
12.79 

12.76
13.11 

13.19 
13.55 

13.63 
14.01 

13.95 
14.34 

14.39 
14.79 

14.89 
15.30 

4 2 years plus 12.29
12.63 

12.72 
13.07 

13.14 
13.50 

13.57
13.94 

13.94 
14.32 

14.30 
14.69 

14.69 
15.10 

15.12 
15.54 

15.59 
16.02 

5 3 years plus 12.76 
13.11 

13.17 
13.53 

13.57 
13.94 

13.95 
14.34 

14.44 
14.84 

14.98 
15.39 

15.47 
15.90 

15.93 
16.37 

16.38 
16.83 

6 4 years plus 13.57 
13.94 

13.94 
14.32 

14.30 
14.69 

14.69 
15.10 

15.16 
15.58 

15.70 
16.13 

16.21 
16.66 

16.67 
17.13 

17.11 
17.58 

7 5 years plus 13.95 
14.34 

14.44 
14.84 

14.98
15.39 

15.47 
15.90 

16.08 
16.52 

16.69 
17.15 

17.27 
17.75 

17.71 
18.20 

18.17 
18.67 

 
*subject to Sections B-1 and B-2 of this policy. 
 
Those secretaries who work in the evening on a regular basis shall be paid an 
additional twenty-five cents ($.25) per hour for evening hours. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 2 of 20 
 
 
 
Secretarial Classifications 
 
The following job classifications will be in effect for the wage schedule listed above, 
subject to other sections of this policy: 
 
Classifications 
 

IV.  Secretarial    Business   
Personnel (Certified) 
Personnel (Classified) 
Director of Student Services  
Director of Career & Technical Ed.  
High School Principal 
Instruction & Learning 

Certified Payroll 
Classified Payroll 
Director of Business Operations 
Insurance 
Director of Transportation 
Mail Room/Duplicating  
       **(effective January 1, 2013) 

III.  Secretarial    Business 
C & I Secretary 
EACC Director of Community Ed 
EACC Principal 
EACC Central Office/Guidance/Accounting 
EACC – WVPE 
Elementary Principal 
High School Athletics/Student Activities 
High School Vice-Principal 
High School Registrar 
Middle School Principals 
LIFE Program 
Building Services-Clerical Assistant 
Student Services Secretary (5 positions) 
Secretary/Personnel  
Sr. Director of Data & Communications 
Switch Board/Personnel Assistant 
Library Services (CO) 
*Federal Programs 

Business Office/Purchasing  
Cafeteria 
Payroll Assistant 
Computer Operator/Bus Garage 
Building Services-Textbook Coordinator 
Director of Food Services 
 
 

 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 3 of 20 
 
 
 

II.  Secretarial    Business 
Board of School Trustees Assistant 
Adult & Community Ed. Data Entry 
Adult & Community Ed. Receptionist 
Office Assistants  
High School Assistant Principal 
High School Media Center 
Middle School Assistant 
EACC Supervisor of Career & Technical Education 

EACC- Office  
PACE Program 
Teenage Parent Program 
Clerical Asst. / Food Service (MHS) 

I.  Secretarial    Business 
  

 
*Subject to reclassification if this position becomes funded from the General Fund. 
 
There will be an increase equal to the base increase for any secretary who by 
placement of the classifications listed in A of this section would receive less than the 
base increase raise. 
 
 A. Commencement of Employment 
   
  Upon a secretary’s commencement of employment with the Elkhart 

Community Schools, such secretary may, at the discretion of the 
superintendent/authorized designee, be placed at any of the first 
six (6) steps of the salary schedule.  The secretary will serve a 
sixty-three (63) calendar-day probationary period. 

   
  A secretary will proceed to the next step when she/he accumulates 

the time normally required to qualify for progression to the next step 
of the wage schedule, unless performance is such that the 
immediate supervisor recommends the step movement be withheld.  
This recommendation shall be made at the end of the probationary 
period of no more than eight (8) weeks, nor fewer than six (6) weeks, 
prior to the anniversary date of the secretary in question. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 4 of 20 
 
 
   
 B. Transfer of Job Classification 
   
  At the discretion of the employer, a secretary may be assigned to fill 

another secretarial position vacancy without the need to post the 
vacancy, so long as both positions are within the same department, 
and both positions are in the same job classification.  In the event 
that a secretary transfers from one job classification to another, the 
secretary will normally be placed on probation in the new position, 
but will continue to receive benefits. The provisions as written above 
shall be applicable except when a presently employed secretary who 
is at the top step is transferred, and in that case the transferred 
secretary may be placed at her/his present step position by the 
Director of Personnel. 

   
 C. Reclassification of Positions 
   
  The administration retains the authority to reclassify positions when 

it determines that it is in the best interest of the Corporation. 
   
  In addition, the Secretarial Negotiations Committee may, during 

their annual discussions with the administration, propose 
reclassification of secretarial positions. 

   
 D. Secretarial Career Increment Schedule 
   
  The amounts as listed will be added to the salary of any secretary 

whose years of employment in the Elkhart Community Schools 
would qualify for such. 

   
 Years Regularly Employed in Elkhart Community 

Schools 
Hourly  
Increment 

   
 five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) $.20 
   
 ten (10) or more, but less than fifteen (15) $.30 
   
 fifteen (15) or more, but less than twenty (20) $.50 
   
 twenty (20) or more $.70 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 5 of 20 
 
 
 
Mentor Program 
 
Any secretary who serves as a mentor shall be given a stipend of $100 per calendar 
year.  Mentors shall be assigned at the sole discretion of the Director of 
PersonnelHuman Resources at the time a secretary is assigned to a new position. 
 
Fringe Benefits 
 
 
Income Protection and Annuities 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified 
employees to purchase income protection and tax sheltered annuities.  This is done 
by specifications and through a company or broker approved by the Board of 
Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools. 
 
Insurance 
 
Effective January 1, 2015, the Board will pay $5,500 (for single, full-time coverage), 
$4,400 (single, half-time coverage), $11,000 (for family, full-time coverage) $8,800 
(Family, half-time coverage), or $11,275 (for family, full-time coverage, both 
employed) of the premium cost of a group hospitalization and major medical 
insurance plan, prescription drug and life insurance for all secretaries.  The 
employee may select one or the other plan provided by the Board.   
 
The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s annual 
salary or wages rounded up to the next thousand dollars.  The Board will contribute 
ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term disability insurance 
policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 6 of 20 
 
 
 
Severance Benefits 
 
Secretarial employees who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of active 
service with the Elkhart Community Schools will be eligible for the following benefits 
upon written resignation received by the Director of Personnel at least ten (10) 
working days prior to the last date of employment. 
 
 A. Resignation 
   
  Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave in the 

current year of employment.  Vacation days earned in the current 
year shall also be paid to full time employees.  Payment for unused 
personal leave and vacation shall be made at the rate of pay in effect 
at termination.  The effective date of resignation shall be established 
to include use of all personal leave and unused vacation days. 

   
 B. Retirement, Death, or Disability - The benefits listed below are in 

addition to those in Section A. 
   
 1. As used in this section, “retirement” shall be defined as 

resignation by a secretarial employee who is age sixty (60) 
and has ten (10) or more consecutive years of employment; or 
who is fifty-five (55) years of age or older and has fifteen (15) 
or more consecutive years of employment; or who is fifty (50) 
years of age or older and has twenty (20) consecutive years of 
employment in the Elkhart Community Schools.   

   
 2. The Board will contribute $3,000 per year to be applied to 

the single or family plan insurance premium until age 
sixty-five (65) for each secretary, age sixty (60) or beyond, who 
retires with notice received in the office of the Superintendent 
three (3) months in advance. In the event of an emergency, 
relief from the required three (3) month notice may be granted 
at the Superintendent’s discretion. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 7 of 20 
 
 
   
  In addition, for the secretary who has fifteen (15) years of 

experience, is age fifty five (55), and has been participating in 
the group health and life insurance program for at least the 
last five (5) years, the employee, by paying one hundred 
percent (100%) of the annual premium until age sixty, and by 
paying $1,250 less than one hundred percent (100%) of the 
annual premium until age sixty five (65), may continue in the 
group insurance plan until age sixty five (65). 

   
  Also this benefit will be discontinued if the retired secretary 

becomes employed on a full time school year or calendar year 
basis, or if through other employment qualifies for health 
insurance benefits.  The employer reserves the right to 
request the employment status of the retired secretary. 

   
 3. A retiring secretary will be paid his/her daily rate multiplied 

times the number of years of service in the Elkhart 
Community Schools. 

   
 4. A maximum of thirty-five (35) accumulated days of unused 

personal leave will be paid to a secretarial employee who 
retires, dies or becomes totally permanently disabled while 
employed by the Elkhart Community Schools.  Vacation days 
earned in the current year shall also be paid prior to 
retirement, or upon disability termination or death of the 
employee.  In the event of death, the above benefit shall be 
paid to the decedent’s estate. 

   
 5. In addition to the above benefits, the actual number of 

days of accumulated sick leave, not to exceed a maximum of 
twelve (12) days or forty-five percent (45%) of the 
accumulated sick leave days, whichever is greater, shall be 
paid to a secretarial employee at the time of retirement, or to 
the secretary’s beneficiary in the event of the death of a 
secretary eligible for retirement. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 8 of 20 
 
 
   
 6. During the month of January, any secretary who has perfect 

attendance, other than vacation, bereavement, or personal 
leave, shall be paid the sum of $500 for each year.  Any 
employee who is absent for any reason for five (5) or less 
days, other than vacation, bereavement, or personal leave 
days, shall be paid the sum of $250. 

 
Change in Support Classification 
 
When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, all 
comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years of accrued service and accumulated 
benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy 3413S. 
 
Absences 
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give 
the reason for absence to his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible.  This 
notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the employee 
regularly reports for work, except for bus drivers, who should give at least one 
hour’s notice.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence.  
Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an absence 
policy.  (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay is not 
to be received.) 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain 
illness and leave benefits.  Absences for all classified personnel in addition to the 
days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for 
which prior approval has been granted.  Any absence of an employee may, at the 
discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification 
satisfactory to the employer.  Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school 
year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or 
termination.  Upon written request received by the appropriate administrator, at 
least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five (5) or 
less consecutive working days may be approved.  The best interests of the school 
corporation will be considered. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 9 of 20 
 
 
 
Absences and Leaves 
 
Personal/Family Illness Absence 
 
Full-time Secretaries 
 
Full-time secretaries will be allowed the number of hours equal to one (1) workday 
per month of employment for personal illness/family illness absence. This will 
provide ninety six (96) hours of personal illness/family illness absence annually. 
Unused personal illness/family illness absence may accumulate to a total of the 
number of hours equal to 210 days as personal illness days. 
 
School-year Secretaries 
 
 A. Regular school year classified employees will be allowed the number 

of hours equal to one (1) workday per month of employment for 
personal illness/family illness leave. 

   
 B. Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness absence to a 

total of the number of hours equal to 110 workdays.  Use of 
accumulated sick leave by a school year employee terminates at the 
close of the school year.  It cannot be used again unless the 
employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a 
later date. 

 
All Secretaries 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work 
following an illness. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 10 of 20 
 
 
 
Family Illness Leave 
 
 A. As used in this section, “immediate family” includes a secretary’s 

spouse, child, step-child, sister, brother, mother, father, mother in 
law, father in law, sister in law, brother in law, grandparent, 
grandchild, daughter in law, son in law, and any other member of 
the family unit who is regularly living in the same household as the 
secretary. “Family unit” shall mean any person related to the 
employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the 
employee is the legal guardian. 

   
 B. A secretary shall be entitled to the number of hours equal to two (2) 

paid days for family illness leave per calendar year, provided that 
such leave shall be for the sole purpose to care for a member of the 
secretary’s immediate family who becomes seriously ill and requires 
both medical attention by a licensed physician and the care and 
attention of the secretary.  Such medical attention provided may be 
requested to be verified by a licensed practicing physician.  Unused 
family illness will accumulate as illness absence. 

   
 C.  When an emergency medical condition of an employee’s immediate 

family necessitates personal care by the employee for an extended 
period of time (days), the employee may annually use five (5) or less 
days of personal illness to provide such care.  This is in addition to 
family illness provisions already provided. 

 
Job-Related Injury 
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker’s 
Compensation.  The employee is required to complete an injury report form on the 
day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the 
employer.  Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury 
arising out of and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by 
Indiana laws regarding Worker’s Compensation.  Worker’s Compensation 
benefits will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty six and two thirds 
percent (66-2/3%) of the employee’s average wage rate.  The employee’s share of the 
health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or 
insurance will be terminated.  An employee may receive full pay by using available 
illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 11 of 20 
 
 
 
Personal Leave 
 
Secretarial/Business staff members are entitled to the number of hours equal to 
three (3) workdays for absence for personal reasons during each calendar year 
without loss of pay.  A personal leave request form shall be completed and 
submitted to the appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll report for the 
period in which the absence occurs. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 
 
Secretarial/Business Personal Leave - Procedure 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee’s supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 
absence. 
 
For less than 12-month secretaries, except for emergencies, personal business hours 
shall not be used for the sole purpose of extending the school vacation periods of 
Fall Recess, Thanksgiving, Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break as 
defined by the school calendar unless the employee complies with the following 
procedure: 
 
 A. Once every five (5) years an employee may use personal business 

hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by 
exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business 
hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

   
 B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the 

Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 12 of 20 
 
 
   
 C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding 

or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon 
approval of the Superintendent or designee.  For the purpose of 
determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall be defined 
as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending 
to his/her assigned duties. 

 
For 12-month secretaries, personal business leave may be taken at any time upon 
the approval of the supervisor or authorized designee. 
 
No personal leave will be granted for participation in any strike or work stoppage or 
other concerted action by an employee or employee group. 
 
Bereavement 
 
Each regular classified employee shall be entitled to be absent from work without 
loss of compensation on account of death in the immediate family for a period 
extending not more than seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately beyond 
each death. 
 
“Immediate family” is defined as father, mother, step-parents, brother, sister, 
spouse, child, step-children, grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father in law, 
mother in law, sister in law, brother in law, son in law, daughter in law, or any other 
member of the family unit regularly living in the same household as the employee. 
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend 
the funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted 
by the Superintendent or designee. 
 
A secretary shall be entitled to up to one (1) paid day per year, to be taken in 
increments of no less than two hours for an absence, to attend the funeral of a close 
friend, upon the condition that the requested absence must not create a serious 
problem in the secretary’s work setting. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 13 of 20 
 
 
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be 
required or shall elect to enter the military service.  This will permit the employee to 
return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be 
entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) 
calendar year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee 
has received the military pay s/he shall present the check or a copy of the check to 
the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for 
each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from temporary 
training or leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position without loss 
of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 
Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular 
employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental 
health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her 
responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 14 of 20 
 
 
 
Health Leave – Procedure 
 
An employee with at least one year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal 
illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and vacation benefits, may be placed on a 
health leave. 
 
 A. After all other available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
   
 B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular 

duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or 
   
 C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the 

Director of Personnel from the appropriate administrator. 
 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within 
thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for termination.  
In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a 
physician.  The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may 
submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating 
the ability to perform the job responsibilities.  Employment will be held for a period 
of up to one (1) year.  After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be 
eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes 
available. 
 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay 
 
 A. Jury Duty 
   
  All secretaries will be granted excused absence when they are 

subpoenaed to serve on the jury.  Such absence shall result in no 
loss of wages.  When the employee has received her/his jury duty 
check, the check or copy of the check shall be presented to the 
payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be 
made from the next payroll check. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 15 of 20 
 
 
   
 B. Witness Duty 
   
  In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, 

except in cases noted below, and gives testimony before a court of 
law or governmental administrative agency, the employee shall be 
granted absence to witness for the time during the working day 
which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to 
three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.  For 
cases involving extended absence to witness, the Superintendent 
may grant additional days with pay, with substitute deduction 
where applicable, or without pay.  When the employee is in receipt of 
his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be presented 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty 
pay will be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not 
be paid when such testimony is given in any employee relations 
related litigation involving the employer or any other school 
employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to testify. 

 
Parental Leave 
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request 
of the employee to the Director of Personnel.  In the event the employee is pregnant, 
the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days after the 
Director of Personnel is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after the birth 
of the child.  For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be requested to 
begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date the child is expected in the home.  
In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period may be waived.  Leaves 
may be requested for a period not to exceed one year, and are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which 
s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to re-
employment.  For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group 
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the 
full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 16 of 20 
 
 
 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than six (6) years old shall 
be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the 
adoptive child.  In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must 
notify the Director of Personnel and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the 
request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption.  All such 
leaves shall commence on the date the child is physically turned over to the 
employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
Holidays and Vacations 
 
Definitions 
 
 A. As used in this policy, the term "full-time employee" means an 

employee who is employed on a twelve month basis and who has a 
regular workday of four (4) or more hours. 

   
 B. As used in this policy, the term "school-year employee" means an 

employee who is employed on a school-year basis and works 
approximately 175 or more days per year, and who has a regular 
workday of four (4) or more hours. 

 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 17 of 20 
 
 
 
Holidays 
 
 A. Full-time employees shall be paid for the following holidays, when 

they occur on days which would have been worked if it were not for 
that special day, subject to the provisions below: 

   
  New Year’s - two (2) days (See Sec. A.1.) 
    
  Martin Luther King Jr. Day  
    
  Presidents’ Day (See Sec. A.4.) 
    
  Memorial Day  
    
  Independence Day - two (2) days (See Sec. A.2.) 
    
  Labor Day  
    
  Thanksgiving - two (2) days See Sec. A.3.) 
    
  Christmas - two (2) days (See Sec. A.1.) 
    
 1. During the winter break (when schools are closed) four (4) 

days will be allowed as follows: 
   
 a. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekday, 

they shall be paid holidays, and a classified employee 
may, subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, 
select either but not both, December 24 or 
December 26 as a holiday with pay, and may, subject 
to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either 
but not both, December 31 or January 2 as a holiday 
with pay.  To be eligible for either of the above 
selections, a classified employee must make such 
request to the immediate supervisor no later than 
December 10. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 18 of 20 
 
 
   
 b. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekend, 

then both the Friday before and the Monday after shall 
be paid holidays, unless schools are open on one of 
these days, in which case an alternate day will be 
determined. 

   
 2. When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid 

holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following, 
unless school is in session. 

   
 3. Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays. 
   
 4. Presidents’ Day will be a paid holidays. 
   
 B. School-year classified employees shall be paid for the following 

holidays when they occur on days which they would have worked if 
it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions above: 

    
  Martin Luther King Jr. Day  
    
  Presidents’ Day  
    
  Memorial Day  
    
  Labor Day  
    
  Thanksgiving - two (2) days See Sec. A.3.) 
    
  Christmas - two (2) days (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be paid 

holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following: 
 
Vacations 
 
 A. A full time employee, who has, as of December 31, been employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools for less than one (1) calendar year, 
shall be entitled to one (1) working day vacation with pay during the 
next calendar year, for each full month of employment completed, 
provided that no more than ten (10) vacation days may be accrued. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 19 of 20 
 
 
   
 B. A full time employee, who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for that entire 
calendar year, shall be entitled to ten (10) working days vacation 
with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 C. A full time employee, who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for six consecutive 
years, is entitled to fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay 
during the next calendar year. 

   
 D. A full time employee, who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for fifteen (15) 
consecutive years, is entitled to twenty (20) working days vacation 
with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 E. A full time employee, who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for twenty (20) 
consecutive years, is entitled to twenty-five (25) working days 
vacation with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 F. Years shall be considered "consecutive" so long as any interruption 

of service did not include other employment. 
   
 G. For purposes of computing an employee's number of years of service 

in the school corporation, a school year employee who subsequently 
changes to full time employee status will have the number of paid 
hours as a school year employee divided by 2080 to obtain the 
number of years of school corporation service to be used in 
determining the working days vacation which such full time 
employee is entitled to receive under this policy. 

   
 H. Dates requested for use as vacation days shall be submitted to the 

immediate supervisor prior to the first day of requested vacation, 
and shall be subject to the approval of the immediate supervisor.   

   
  When vacation days for secretaries have been requested and 

approved but are not able to be used due to administrative directive, 
an extension of up to three (3) months will be granted for the use of 
such day(s). 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.06S/page 20 of 20 
 
 
   
 I. Vacation days will be available to the staff member during the 

twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6) months 
beyond.  

   
 J. A school-year employees will be entitled to paid vacation days. 
 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.08S/page 1 of 14 
 
 
 
 

PARAPROFESSIONALS’ COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for 
paraprofessionals to be effective January 1, 20162017. 
 
Paraprofessionals’ Wage Schedule 
 
 A. No B.A. or B.S. Degree in Education 
   
 Step ECS Experience as Paraprofessional Hourly Rate 
   A B 
 1 0 days or more, but less than 55 days 

(Probationary Rate) 
9.68 
9.95 

9.17 
9.42 

 2 55 days or more, but less than 1 year 9.80 
10.07 

9.51 
9.77 

 3 1 year or more, but less than 2 years 10.28 
10.56 

10.01 
10.29 

 4 2 years or more, but less than 3 years 10.81 
11.11 

10.49 
10.78 

 5 3 years or more, but less than 4 years 11.31 
11.62 

10.97 
11.27 

 6 4 years or more, but less than 5 years 11.73 
12.05 

11.38 
11.69 

 7 5 years or more, but less than 6 years 12.25 
12.59 

11.87 
12.20 

 8 6 years or more, but less than 7 years 12.71 
13.06 

12.33 
12.67 

 9 7 years or more 13.23 
13.60 

12.84 
13.19 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.08S/page 2 of 14 
 
 
 
     
 B. B.A. or B.S. Degree in Education   
     
 Step ECS Experience* as Paraprofessional Hourly Rate 
  *subject to Sections 2-A-5 and 2-B-2 A B 
 1 0 days or more, but less than 55 days 

(Probationary Rate) 
10.39 
10.68 

10.13 
10.41 

 2 55 days or more, but less than 1 year 10.81 
11.11 

10.49 
10.78 

 3 1 year or more, but less than 2 years 11.31 
11.62 

10.97 
11.27 

 4 2 years or more, but less than 3 years 11.73 
12.05 

11.38 
11.69 

 5 3 years or more, but less than 4 years 12.25 
12.59 

11.87 
12.20 

 6 4 years or more, but less than 5 years 12.71 
13.06 

12.33 
12.67 

 7 5 years or more, but less than 6 years 13.23 
13.60 

12.84 
13.19 

     
 Key: Column A = Less than four (4) hours/day employees 
  Column B = Four (4) or more hours/day employees (In 

addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to 
PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community School. 

 
Explanation of Schedules 
 
 A. Paraprofessional with no B.A. or B.S. Degree 
   
 1. An employee who does not possess by January 1 of each year 

a Bachelor of Arts or Bachelor of Science degree in education 
from an accredited four year college or university shall be 
classified as a "paraprofessional" and shall be paid a wage in 
accordance with the Wage Schedule, pursuant to 
Paraprofessionals’ Wage Schedule-A of this Policy. 

   
 2. Any paraprofessional with thirty (30) or more but less than 

ninety (90) semester hours credit as described in part 4 of 
this section shall be placed on Step 3 of the salary schedule 
after successful completion of probationary employment. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.08S/page 3 of 14 
 
   

 
 3. Any paraprofessional with ninety (90) or more semester hours 

credit as described in part 4 of this section shall be placed on 
Step 4 of the salary schedule after successful completion of 
probationary employment. 

 
   
 4. All semester credit hours must be a part of a regular college 

or university program leading to a B.A. or B.S. degree in 
education, and a letter of verification shall be submitted to 
the Director of Personnel for approval before credit towards 
experience is granted. 

   
 5. Verified experience as a teacher, substitute teacher, or 

educational aide will be evaluated to determine placement, 
but in no case will an employee be placed at Step 8 or higher. 

   
 6. Executive Director of Personnel and Legal Services/Designee 

may place paraprofessionals in hard to fill positions (e.g. 
emotionally disabled, intense intervention) on steps 4 – 8 of 
the Paraprofessionals’ Wage Schedule at their date of hire. 

   
 7. No change in wage status due to earned credit hours shall be 

made at any time other than January 1 of each year. 
   
 8. Paraprofessionals employed on or before January 1, 1976, 

who possess a B.A. or B.S. college degree in a field other than 
educational shall be eligible for placement on 
Paraprofessionals’ Wage Schedule -B, Paraprofessional Wage 
Schedule. 

   
 B. Paraprofessional with a B.A. or B.S. Degree 
   
 
 1. Upon completion of a Bachelor of Arts or Bachelor of Science 

degree in education, a paraprofessional shall be classified, 
beginning January 1 of the year following completion of said 
degree, as a "paraprofessional" and shall be paid a wage in 
accordance with the Paraprofessional Wage Schedule, 
pursuant to Paraprofessionals’ Wage Schedule-B of this 
Policy. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.08S/page 4 of 14 
 
   
 2. Verified experience as a teacher, substitute teacher, or 

educational aide will be evaluated to determine placement, 
but in no case will an employee be placed at Step 6 or higher. 

   
 C. Paraprofessionals assigned to emotionally disabled classrooms as 

well as special education classrooms where custodial care and lifting 
are required shall be paid a differential of $1.00 per hour over their 
existing rate.  In addition, paraprofessionals who are required to 
perform pre-trip inspections of activity busses will be paid a 
differential of $1.00 per hour over their existing rate. 

   
 D. Elementary library paraprofessionals and keyboarding instructional 

paraprofessionals shall be paid a differential of $1.00 per hour over 
their existing rate. 

   
 E. Paraprofessional Career Increment Schedule 
   
 Years regularly employed by Elkhart Amount of Hourly 
 Community Schools Career Increment 
   
 5 or more, but less than 10 .20 
 10 or more, but less than 15 .30 
 15 or more, but less than 17 .40 
 17 or more, but less than 20 .50 
 20 or more .60 
 
Paraprofessionals’ Fringe Benefits 
 
 A. Income Protection and Annuities 
   
  The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for 

regular classified employees to purchase income protection and 
tax-sheltered annuities.  This is done by specifications and through 
a company or broker approved by the Board. 

   
 B. Insurance 
   
  In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community 

Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular classified 
employee who is a member of the group hospitalization, major 
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.08S/page 5 of 14 
 

Trustees.  The Board contribution is explained in each employee 
booklet, manual, agreement or contract.  For Paraprofessionals, this 
program includes prescription drug insurance and dental insurance 
for all employees who elect to participate in the Board approved 
health insurance program.  In addition to the liability insurance 
coverage for all employees, a medical professional liability policy is 
provided for employees in health related positions. 

   
  Effective January 1, 2015, the Board will pay $5,500 (for single, full-

time coverage), $4,400 (for single, half-time coverage), $11,000 (for 
family, full-time coverage), $8,800 (for family, half-time coverage), or 
$11,275 (for family, full-time coverage, both employed) of the 
premium cost of such group plan. 

   
 C. Severance Benefits 
   
  Paraprofessionals who have completed a minimum of six (6) months 

of active service with the Elkhart Community Schools will be eligible 
for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the 
Director of Personnel at least ten (10) working days prior to the last 
date of employment. 

   
 1. Resignation 
   
  Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave 

in the current year of employment at the rate of pay in effect 
at termination.  The effective date of resignation shall be 
established to include use of all personal leave. 

 
   
 2. Retirement, Death, or Disability 
   
  The benefits listed below are in addition to those in 

Paraprofessionals’ Fringe Benefits. 
 

   
 a. For purposes of this benefit, “retirement” shall be 

defined as resignation by an employee who at the time 
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more 
consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart 
Community Schools or who is age fifty-five (55) and 
has fifteen (15) or more consecutive years of 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.08S/page 6 of 14 
 

employment in Elkhart Community Schools.  Only the 
six (6) months service requirement must be met to be 
eligible for the disability or death benefit. 

 
   
  The requirement for consecutive years of employment 

is modified only under the following conditions: If a 
paraprofessional leaves the employment of the Elkhart 
Community Schools for any reason and for any period 
of time and then return to employment with the 
Elkhart Community Schools, the years of service 
completed prior to this break in employment will be 
counted toward the years of employment requirement 
for severance benefits, but the employee must work 
two additional years beyond the total number required 
to normally reach the years of employment 
requirement.  For example, if a paraprofessional works 
for the district for eight (8) years, leaves the district’s 
employment for one (1) year and then returns to 
employment, s/he must work another four (4) years in 
order to meet the age sixty (60) and ten (10) years of 
experience requirement, or nine (9) years in order to 
meet the age fifty-five (55) and fifteen (15) years of 
experience requirement.  In addition, there can only be 
one break in employment under this exception to the 
consecutive years of service requirement.  If there is 
more than one break in service, the paraprofessional’s 
prior years of service will not be counted and the 
consecutive service requirement will apply. 

   
 b. A maximum of thirty-five (35) accumulated days of 

unused personal leave will be paid to eligible 
employees who retire, die, or become totally 
permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart 
Community Schools. In the event of death, the benefit 
shall be paid to the decedent’s estate. 

 
   
 c. In addition, employees who are fifty five (55) years of 

age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of 
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart 
Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.08S/page 7 of 14 
 

the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in 
that program until age sixty five (65) by paying 100% of 
the premiums in advance at the business office. 

   
 d. When retiring, a Paraprofessional may select one of the 

following benefits based upon the employee’s daily rate 
at the time of retirement: 

   
 1) One Two (12) day’s pay for each full year 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools, or 
   
 2) At least forty-five percent (45%) of the unused 

sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the 
provisions in the Paraprofessional employee 
booklet. 

   
 D. Change in Paraprofessionals Classification 
   
  When any classified employee is employed in another classified 

employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years 
of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, 
subject to Board Policy. 

 
Absences 
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give 
the reason for absence to his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible.  This 
notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the employee 
regularly reports for work.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of 
absence.  Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an 
absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay 
is not to be received.) 
 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain 
illness and leave benefits.  Absences for all classified personnel in addition to the 
days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for 
which prior approval has been granted.  Any absence of an employee may, at the 
discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification 
satisfactory to the employer.  Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school 
year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or 
termination.  Upon written request received by the appropriate administrator, at 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.08S/page 8 of 14 
 
least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or 
less consecutive working days may be approved.  The best interests of the school 
corporation will be considered. 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence 
 
 A. School-year Employees 
   
 1. Regular school year classified employees will be allowed the 

number of hours equal to one (1) workday per month of 
employment for personal illness/family illness leave 

   
 2. Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness 

absence to a total of the number of hours equal to 120 
workdays.  Use of accumulated sick leave by a school year 
employee terminates at the close of the school year.  It cannot 
be used again unless the employee is employed for the 
following school year or employed at a later date. 

   
 B. All Employees 
   
 1. The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s 

approval to return to work following an illness. 
 
   
 2. An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is 

eligible for Worker’s Compensation.  The employee is required 
to complete an injury report form on the day of the injury and 
to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the 
employer.  Time required for the employee to recuperate from 
any personal injury arising out of and in the course of 
employment responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws 
regarding Worker’s Compensation.  Worker’s Compensation 
benefits will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of 
sixty six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee’s 
average wage rate.  The employee’s share of the health/life 
insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business 
Office or insurance will be terminated.  An employee may 
receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal 
business, and/or vacation benefits. 

 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.08S/page 9 of 14 
 
Bereavement 
 
Each regular classified employee shall be entitled to be absent from work without 
loss of compensation on account of death in the immediate family for a period 
extending not more than seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately beyond 
each death. 
 
“Immediate family” is defined as father, mother, step-parents, brother, sister, 
spouse, child, step-children, grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father-in-law, 
mother-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or any 
other member of the family unit regularly living in the same household as the 
employee. 
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend 
the funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s), with or without pay, may be 
granted by the Superintendent or designee. 
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be 
required or shall elect to enter the military service.  This will permit the employee to 
return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be 
entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) 
calendar year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee 
has received the military pay he/she shall present the check or a copy of the check 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made 
for each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from 
temporary training or leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position 
without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 
Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.08S/page 10 of 14 
 
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave 
for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee 
is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 
 
Health Leave - Procedure 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular 
employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental 
health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her 
responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 
 
 A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
   
 B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular 

duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or 
   
 C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the 

Director of Personnel from the appropriate administrator. 
 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within 
thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for termination.  
In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a 
physician.  The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer. 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.08S/page 11 of 14 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may 
submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating 
the ability to perform the job responsibilities.  Employment will be held for a period 
of up to one (1) year.  After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be 
eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes 
available. 
 
Personal Leave 
 
Regular classified employees are entitled to the number of hours equal to two (2) 
workdays for absence for personal reasons during each calendar year without loss of 
pay.  A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the 
appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which 
the absence occurs. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 
 
Personal Leave - Procedure 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee’s supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 
absence. 
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole 
purpose of extending the school vacation periods of Fall Recess, Thanksgiving, 
Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break as defined by the school calendar 
unless the employee complies with the following procedure: 
 
 A. Once every five (5) years an employee may use personal business 

hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by 
exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business 
hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

   
 B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the 

Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.08S/page 12 of 14 
 
 
   
 C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding 

or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon 
approval of the Superintendent or designee.  For the purpose of 
determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall be defined 
as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending 
to his/her assigned duties. 

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay 
 
Jury Duty 
 
All paraprofessionals will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to 
serve on the jury.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the 
employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check shall 
be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will 
be made from the next payroll check. 
 
Witness Duty 
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted 
below, and gives testimony before a court of law or governmental administrative 
agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the 
working day which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to 
three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.  For cases involving 
extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with 
pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay.  When the 
employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be 
presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will 
be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not be paid when such 
testimony is given in any employee relations related litigation involving the employer 
or any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to 
testify. 
 
Parental Leave 
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request 
of the employee to the Director of Personnel.  In the event that the employee is 
pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days 
after the Director of Personnel is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after 
the birth of the child.  For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.08S/page 13 of 14 
 
requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child is 
expected in the home.  In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period 
may be waived.  Leaves may be requested for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and 
are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which 
s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to re-
employment.  For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group 
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the 
full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office. 
 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than six (6) years old shall 
be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the 
adoptive child.  In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must 
notify the Director of Personnel and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the 
request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption.  All such 
leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to the 
employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
 
Paraprofessionals’ Holidays 
 
 A. Definitions 
   
 1. As used in this policy, the term “full-time employee” means 

an employee who is employed on a twelve-month basis and 
who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours. 

   
 2. As used in this policy, the term “school-year employee” means 

an employee who is employed on a school-year basis and 
works approximately one hundred seventy-five (175) or more 
days per year, and who has a regular workday of four (4) or 
more hours. 

   



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.08S/page 14 of 14 
 
 
 B. Holidays 
   
  School-year classified employees shall be paid for the following 

holidays when they occur on days which they would have worked if 
it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions above: 

   
 1. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 
   
 2. Presidents Day 
   
 3. Memorial Day 
   
 4. Labor Day 
   
 5. Thanksgiving Day – two (2) days 
   
 6. Christmas Day (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid 

holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following) 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.09S/page 1 of 13 
 
 
 
 

TECHNICAL ASSISTANTS’ COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
 
Technical Assistants’ Wage Schedule 
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for 
Technical Assistants to be effective January 1, 20162017.  In addition, the three 
percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community 
Schools. 
 
 Step ECS Experience as Paraprofessional Hourly Rate 
    
 1 0 days or more, but less than 55 days 

(Probationary Rate) 
13.4613.83 

 2 55 days or more, but less than 1 year 14.1714.56 
 3 1 year or more, but less than 2 years 14.7915.20 
 4 2 years or more, but less than 3 years 15.4815.91 
 5 3 years or more 16.3916.84 
 
 Years regularly employed by Elkhart Amount of Hourly 
 Community Schools Career Increment 
   
 5 or more, but less than 10 .20 
 10 or more, but less than 15 .30 
 15 or more, but less than 20 .40 
 20 or more, but less than 25 .50 
 25 or more .60 
   
 *Step placement shall be determined on verified past experience, but in no 

case will any new employee be placed higher than Step 4 following the 
probationary employment period. 

 
Additional Course Work Increment 

 
A Technical Assistant who completes a 45 contact hour, pre-approved course related 
directly to his or her position and receives a final course grade of C+ or better in 
graded courses, will receive a 10¢ increase in hourly rate for each such approved 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.09S/page 2 of 13 
 
course which is completed, up to a maximum of 30¢ per hour.  The request must be 
submitted to the Director of Personnel in writing for his/her approval. 
 
Fringe Benefits 
 
 A. Income Protection and Annuities 
   
  The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for 

regular classified employees to purchase income protection and tax 
sheltered annuities.  This is done by specifications and through 
company or broker approved by the Board of Schools Trustees of the 
Elkhart Community Schools. 

   
 B. Insurance 
   
  In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community 

Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular classified 
employee who is a member of the group hospitalization, major 
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School 
Trustees.  Effective January 1, 2015, the Board will pay $5,500 (for 
single, full-time coverage), $4,400 (for single, half-time coverage), 
$11,000 (for family, full-time coverage), $8,800 (for family, half-time 
coverage) or $11,275 (for family, full-time coverage, both employed) 
of the premium cost of a group hospitalization and major medical 
insurance plan, prescription drug, dental (where applicable) and life 
insurance for all Technical Assistants.  The employee may select one 
or the other plan provided by the Board. 

   
  The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the 

employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the next thousand 
dollars.  The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the 
premium cost of a group long-term disability insurance policy for 
employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 

   
 C. Severance Benefits 
   
  Technical Assistants who have completed a minimum of six (6) 

months of active service with the Elkhart Community Schools will be 
eligible for the following benefits upon written resignation received 
by the Director of Personnel at least ten (10) working days prior to 
the last date of employment. 

   



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.09S/page 3 of 13 
 
 1. Resignation 
   
  Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave 

in the current year of employment at the rate of pay in effect 
at termination.  The effective date of resignation shall be 
established to include use of all personal leave. 

   
 2. Retirement, Death, or Disability 
   
  The benefits listed below are in addition to those in Technical 

Assistants’ Fringe Benefits. 
   
 a. For purposes of this benefit, “retirement” shall be 

defined as resignation by an employee who at the time 
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more 
consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart 
Community Schools or who is age fifty-five (55) and 
has fifteen (15) or more consecutive years of 
employment in Elkhart Community Schools.  Only the 
six (6) months service requirement must be met to be 
eligible for the disability or death benefit. 

   
 b. A maximum of thirty-five (3035) accumulated days of 

unused personal leave will be paid to eligible 
employees who retire, die, or become totally 
permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart 
Community Schools. In the event of death, the benefit 
shall be paid to the decedent’s estate. 

   
 c. In addition, employees who are fifty five (55) years of 

age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of 
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart 
Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least 
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in 
that program until age sixty five (65) by paying 100% of 
the premiums in advance at the business office. 

   
 d. When retiring, a Technical Assistant who has ten (10) 

years of service and is at least fifty-five (55) years of age 
may select one of the following benefits based upon the 
employee’s daily rate at the time of retirement: 

   



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.09S/page 4 of 13 
 
 1) Two (2) days’ pay for each full year employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools, or 
   
 2) At least forty forty-five percent (4045%) of the 

unused sick leave will be paid, in accordance 
with the provisions in the Technical Assistants 
employee booklet. 

   
 D. Change in Classification 
   
  When any classified employee is employed in another classified 

employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years 
of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, 
subject to Board Policy. 

 
Absences 
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give 
the reason for absence to his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible.  This 
notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the employee 
regularly reports for work.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of 
absence.  Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an 
absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay 
is not to be received.) 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain 
illness and leave benefits.  Absences for all classified personnel in addition to the 
days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for 
which prior approval has been granted.  Any absence of an employee may, at the 
discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification 
satisfactory to the employer.  Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school 
year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or 
termination.  Upon written request received by the appropriate administrator, at 
least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or 
less consecutive working days may be approved.  The best interests of the school 
corporation will be considered. 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence 
 
 A. Full-Time Technical Assistants 
   
  Full-time Technical Assistants will be allowed the number of hours 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.09S/page 5 of 13 
 

equal to one workday per month of employment for personal 
illness/family illness absence.  This will provide ninety-six (96) 
hours of illness absence annually.  Unused personal illness/family 
illness absence may accumulate to a total of the number of hours 
equal to 200 days as personal illness days. 

   
 B. School-year Technical Assistants 
   
 1. Regular school-year classified employees will be allowed the 

number of hours equal to one (1) workday per month of 
employment for personal illness/family illness leave 

   
 2. Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness 

absence to a total of the number of hours equal to 120 
workdays.  Use of accumulated sick leave by a school-year 
employee terminates at the close of the school year.  It cannot 
be used again unless the employee is employed for the 
following school year or employed at a later date. 

   
  The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to 

return to work following an illness. 
 
Family Illness 
 
The number of hours equal to two (2) workdays may be used for family illness in the 
immediate family, two (2) workdays may be used for either family illness in the 
immediate family or personal illness, and the balance may be used for personal 
illness. 
 
As used in this section, “immediate family” includes spouse, child, sister, brother, 
mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, 
grandparent, grandchild, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, and any other member of the 
family unit who is regularly living in the same household as the employee.  “Family 
Unit” shall mean any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or 
any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian. 
 
Job-Related Injury 
 
An employee injured in the performance of his or her duties is eligible for Worker's 
Compensation. The employee is required to complete an injury report form on the 
day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the 
employer.  Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.09S/page 6 of 13 
 
arising out of and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by 
Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation.  Worker's Compensation benefits 
will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty six and two thirds 
percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate.  The employee's share of the 
health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or 
insurance will be terminated.  An employee may receive full pay by using available 
illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Bereavement 
 
Each regular classified employee shall be entitled to be absent from work without 
loss of compensation on account of death in the immediate family for a period 
extending not more than seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately beyond 
each death. 
 
“Immediate family” is defined as father, mother, step-parents, brother, sister, 
spouse, child, step-children, grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father-in-law, 
mother-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or any 
other member of the family unit regularly living in the same household as the 
employee. 
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend 
the funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s), with or without pay, may be 
granted by the Superintendent or designee. 
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be 
required or shall elect to enter the military service.  This will permit the employee to 
return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be 
entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) 
calendar year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee 
has received the military pay he/she shall present the check or a copy of the check 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made 
for each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.09S/page 7 of 13 
 
temporary training or leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position 
without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 
Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave 
for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee 
is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular 
employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental 
health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her 
responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 
 
Health Leave - Procedure 
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal 
illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and vacation benefits, may be placed on a 
health leave. 
 
 A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
   



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.09S/page 8 of 13 
 
 B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular 

duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or 
   
 C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the 

Director of Personnel from the appropriate administrator. 
 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within 
thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for termination.  
In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a 
physician.  The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer. 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may 
submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating 
the ability to perform the job responsibilities.  Employment will be held for a period 
of up to one (1) year.  After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be 
eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes 
available. 
 
Personal Leave 
 
Full-time Technical Assistants who are employed on a twelve-month basis, and who 
work a regular workday of four (4) or more hours are entitled to the number of hours 
equal to three (3) workdays for absence for personal reasons during each calendar 
year without loss of pay.  School-year Technical Assistants who are employed on a 
school-year basis and who work a regular workday of four (4) or more hours are 
entitled to the number of hours equal to two (2) workdays for absence for personal 
reasons during each calendar year without loss of pay.  A personal leave request 
form shall be completed and submitted to the appropriate administrator to 
accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence occurs. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 
 
Personal Leave - Procedure 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee's supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.09S/page 9 of 13 
 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 
absence. 
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole 
purpose of extending the school vacation periods of Fall Recess, Thanksgiving, 
Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break as defined by the school calendar 
unless the employee complies with the following procedure: 
 
 A. Once every five (5) years an employee may use personal business 

hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by 
exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business 
hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

   
 B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the 

Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day. 
   
 C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding 

or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon 
approval of the Superintendent or designee.  For the purpose of 
determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall be defined 
as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending 
to his/her assigned duties. 

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay 
 
Jury Duty 
 
All Technical Assistants will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed 
to serve on the jury.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the 
employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check shall 
be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will 
be made from the next payroll check. 
 
Witness Duty 
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted 
below, and gives testimony before a court of law or governmental administrative 
agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the 
working day which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to 
three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.  For cases involving 
extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with 
pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay.  When the 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.09S/page 10 of 13 
 
employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be 
presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will 
be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not be paid when such 
testimony is given in any employee relations related litigation involving the employer 
or any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to 
testify. 
 
Parental Leave 
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request 
of the employee to the Director of Personnel.  In the event that the employee is 
pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days 
after the Director of Personnel is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after 
the birth of the child.  For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be 
requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child is 
expected in the home.  In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period 
may be waived.  Leaves may be requested for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and 
are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which 
s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to re-
employment.  For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group 
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the 
full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office. 
 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than six (6) years old shall 
be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the 
adoptive child.  In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must 
notify the Director of Personnel and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the 
request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption.  All such 
leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to the 
employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
Holidays and Vacations 
 
 A. Definitions 
   
 1. As used in this policy, the term “full-time employee” means 

an employee who is employed on a twelve-month basis and 
who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.09S/page 11 of 13 
 
   
 2. As used in this policy, the term “school-year employee” means 

an employee who is employed on a school-year basis and 
works approximately one hundred seventy-five (175) or more 
days per year, and who has a regular workday of four (4) or 
more hours. 

   
 B. Holidays 
   
  Full-time Technical Assistants shall be paid for the following 

holidays, when they occur on days which would have been worked if 
it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions below: 

   
 1. New Year’s - two (2) days 
   
 2. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 
   
 3. Presidents Day 
   
 4. Memorial Day 
   
 5. Independence Day - two (2) days 
   
 6. Labor Day 
   
 7. Thanksgiving Day – two (2) days 
   
 8. Christmas Day - two (2) days 
   
 C. During the winter break (when schools are closed) four (4) days will 

be allowed as follows: 
   
 1. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekday, they 

shall be paid holidays, and a classified employee may, subject 
to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either but not 
both December 24 or December 26 as a holiday with pay, and 
may, subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, select 
either but not both December 31 or January 2 as a holiday 
with pay.  To be eligible for either of the above selections, a 
classified employee must make such request to the immediate 
supervisor no later than December 10. 

   



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.09S/page 12 of 13 
 
 2. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekend, then 

both the Friday before and the Monday after shall be paid 
holidays, unless schools are open on one of these days, in 
which case an alternate day will be determined. 

   
 3. When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid 

holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following, 
unless school is in session. 

   
 4. Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays. 
   
 5. Presidents’ Day will be a paid holiday. 
   
 D. Technical Assistants shall be paid for the following holidays when 

they occur on days which they would have worked if it were not for 
that special day, subject to the provisions above: 

   
 1. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 
   
 2. Presidents Day 
   
 3. Memorial Day 
   
 4. Labor Day 
   
 5. Thanksgiving Day and the following Friday (two (2) days) 
   
 6. Christmas Day - (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid 

holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following) 
 
Vacations 
 
 A. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31, been employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools for less than one (1) calendar year, 
shall be entitled to one (1) working day vacation with pay during the 
next calendar year, for each full month of employment completed, 
provided that no more than ten (10) vacation days may be accrued. 

   
 B. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for that entire 
calendar year, shall be entitled to ten (10) working days vacation 
with pay during the next calendar year. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.09S/page 13 of 13 
 
   
 C. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for six consecutive 
years, is entitled to fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay 
during the next calendar year. 

 
   
 D. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for fifteen (15) 
consecutive years, is entitled to twenty (20) working days vacation 
with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 E. Years shall be considered “consecutive” so long as any interruption 

of service did not include other employment. 
   
 F. For purposes of computing an employee’s number of years of service 

in the school corporation, a school-year employee who subsequently 
changes to full-time employee status will have the number of paid 
hours as a school-year employee divided by 2080 to obtain the 
number of years of school corporation service to be used in 
determining the working days vacation which such full-time 
employee is entitled to receive under this policy. 

   
 G. Dates requested for use as vacation days shall be submitted to the 

immediate supervisor prior to the first day of requested vacation, 
and shall be subject to the approval of the immediate supervisor. 

   
 H. Vacation days will be available to the staff member during the 

twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6) months 
beyond. 

   
 I. A school-year employee will not be entitled to any paid vacation 

days. 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.10S/page 1 of 10 
 
 
 
 

REGISTERED NURSES’ COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
 
Registered Nurses’ Salary Schedule 
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for 
Registered Nurses to be effective January 1, 20162017.  In addition, the three 
percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community 
Schools. 
 
  Experience* as Salary Salary Salary 
 Step Registered Nurse (Elementary 

Schools) (Middle School) High School 

 1 Less than 1 year 31,28232,145 31,28432,147 35,78436,772 
 2 1 year to 3 years 32,09432,980 32,09332,979 36,71237,725 
 3 3 years to 5 years 33,00733,918 33,00833,919 37,75538,797 
 4 5 years to 7 years 33,65534,584 33,65434,583 38,49639,558 
 5 7 years or more 33,93834,875 33,93634,873 38,82239,893 
      
 * Step placement will be determined on verified past experience. In no case 

will any new employee be placed higher than Step 4. Experience 
with Elkhart Community Schools will be updated annually, effective on 
January 1. 

 
 CAREER INCREMENT SCHEDULE  
   
  Annual  
 Years regularly employed in Elkhart Community Schools Increment 
   
 5 or more, but less than 10 $270.00 
 10 or more, but less than 15   400.00 
 15 or more, but less than 20   670.00 
 20 or more   935.00 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.10S/page 2 of 10 
 
School Nurse Certification Incentive Compensation 
 
Upon submission of proof that a Registered Nurse has been given School Nurse’s 
Certification by the National Board for Certification of Nurses, s/he will be moved up 
one step on the wage scale. 
 
Stipend 
 
 A. The registered nurse who is assigned the responsibility of ordering 

and maintaining supplies will be paid a stipend of $500.  The 
Director of Student Services and the Executive Director of Personnel 
and Legal Services shall develop a committee with the Nurses to 
determine additional stipends for registered nurses in addition to 
the present stipend for ordering and maintaining supplies. 

   
 B. The registered nurse who is assigned the responsibility of Health 

Coordinator will be paid a stipend of $2,500.00. 
 
Fringe Benefits 
 
 A. Income Protection and Annuities 
   
  The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for 

regular classified employees to purchase income protection and tax 
sheltered annuities.  This is done by specifications and through 
company or broker approved by the Board of Schools Trustees of the 
Elkhart Community Schools. 

   
 B. Insurance 
   
  In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community 

Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular classified 
employee who is a member of the group hospitalization, major 
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School 
Trustees.  Effective January 1, 2015, the Board will pay $5,500 (for 
single, full-time coverage), $4,400 (for single, half-time coverage), 
$11,000 (for family, full-time coverage), $8,800 (for family, half-time 
coverage) or $11,275 (for family, full-time coverage, both employed) 
of the premium cost of a group hospitalization and major medical 
insurance plan, prescription drug, dental (where applicable) and life 
insurance for all Registered Nurses.  The employee may select one or 
the other plan provided by the Board. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.10S/page 3 of 10 
 
   
  The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the 

employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the next thousand 
dollars.  The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the 
premium cost of a group long-term disability insurance policy for 
employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 

   
 C. Severance Benefits 
   
  Registered Nurses who have completed a minimum of six (6) months 

of active service with the Elkhart Community Schools will be eligible 
for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the 
Director of Personnel at least ten (10) working days prior to the last 
date of employment. 

   
 1. Resignation 
   
  Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave 

in the current year of employment at the rate of pay in effect 
at termination.  The effective date of resignation shall be 
established to include use of all personal leave. 

   
 2. Retirement, Death, or Disability 
   
  The benefits listed below are in addition to those in Registered 

Nurses’ Fringe Benefits. 
   
 a. For purposes of this benefit, “retirement” shall be 

defined as resignation by an employee who at the time 
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more 
consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart 
Community Schools.  Only the six (6) months service 
requirement must be met to be eligible for the 
disability or death benefit. 

   
 b. A maximum of thirty-five (35) accumulated days of 

unused personal leave will be paid to eligible 
employees who retire, die, or become totally 
permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart 
Community Schools. In the event of death, the benefit 
shall be paid to the decedent’s estate. 

   



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.10S/page 4 of 10 
 
 c. In addition, employees who are fifty five (55) years of 

age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of 
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart 
Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least 
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in 
that program until age sixty five (65) by paying 100% of 
the premiums in advance at the business office. 

   
 d. When retiring, a Registered Nurse who has ten (10) 

years of service and is at least fifty-five (55) years of age 
may select one of the following benefits based upon the 
employee’s daily rate at the time of retirement: 

   
 1) One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools, or 
   
 2) At least forty-five percent (45%) of the unused 

sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the 
provisions in the Registered Nurses employee 
booklet. 

   
 D. Change in Classification 
   
  When any classified employee is employed in another classified 

employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years 
of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, 
subject to Board Policy. 

 
Absences 
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give 
the reason for absence to his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible.  This 
notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the employee 
regularly reports for work.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of 
absence.  Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an 
absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay 
is not to be received.) 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain 
illness and leave benefits.  Absences for all classified personnel in addition to the 
days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for 
which prior approval has been granted.  Any absence of an employee may, at the 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.10S/page 5 of 10 
 
discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification 
satisfactory to the employer.  Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school 
year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or 
termination.  Upon written request received by the appropriate administrator, at 
least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or 
less consecutive working days may be approved.  The best interests of the school 
corporation will be considered. 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence 
 
Regular school-year classified employees will be allowed the number of hours equal 
to one (1) workday per month of employment for personal illness/family illness 
absence.   
 
Any unused hours will accumulate as illness absence to a total of the number of 
hours equal to 120 workdays.  Use of accumulated sick leave by a school year 
employee terminates at the close of the school year.  It cannot be used again unless 
the employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a later date. 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work 
following an illness. 
 
Family Illness 
 
As used in this section, “immediate family” includes spouse, child, sister, brother, 
mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, 
grandparent, grandchild, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, and any other member of the 
family unit who is regularly living in the same household as the employee.  “Family 
Unit” shall mean any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or 
any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian. 
 
Job-Related Injury 
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's 
Compensation. The employee is required to complete an injury report form on the 
day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the 
employer.  Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury 
arising out of and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by 
Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation.  Worker's Compensation benefits 
will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty six and two thirds 
percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate.  The employee's share of the 
health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.10S/page 6 of 10 
 
insurance will be terminated.  An employee may receive full pay by using available 
illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Bereavement 
 
Each regular classified employee shall be entitled to be absent from work without 
loss of compensation on account of death in the immediate family for a period 
extending not more than seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately beyond 
each death. 
 
“Immediate family” is defined as father, mother, step-parents, brother, sister, 
spouse, child, step-children, grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father-in-law, 
mother-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or any 
other member of the family unit regularly living in the same household as the 
employee. 
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend 
the funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s), with or without pay, may be 
granted by the Superintendent or designee. 
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be 
required or shall elect to enter the military service.  This will permit the employee to 
return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be 
entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) 
calendar year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee 
has received the military pay he/she shall present the check or a copy of the check 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made 
for each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from 
temporary training or leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position 
without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.10S/page 7 of 10 
 
Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave 
for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee 
is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 
 
Health Leave - Administrative Regulation 
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal 
illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and vacation benefits, may be placed on a 
health leave. 
 
 A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
   
 B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular 

duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or 
   
 C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the 

Director of Personnel from the appropriate administrator. 
 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within 
thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for termination.  
In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a 
physician.  The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer. 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may 
submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating 
the ability to perform the job responsibilities.  Employment will be held for a period 
of up to one (1) year.  After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.10S/page 8 of 10 
 
eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes 
available. 
 
Personal Leave 
 
Registered Nurses are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) workdays 
for absence for personal reasons during each calendar year without loss of pay.  A 
personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the appropriate 
administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence 
occurs. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 
 
Personal Leave - Procedure 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee's supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 
absence. 
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole 
purpose of extending the school vacation periods of Fall Recess, Thanksgiving, 
Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break as defined by the school calendar 
unless the employee complies with the following procedure: 
 
 A. Once every five (5) years an employee may use personal business 

hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by 
exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business 
hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

   
 B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the 

Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day. 
   
 C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding 

or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon 
approval of the Superintendent or designee.  For the purpose of 
determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall be defined 
as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.10S/page 9 of 10 
 

to his/her assigned duties. 
 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay 
 
Jury Duty 
 
All Registered Nurses will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to 
serve on the jury.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the 
employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check shall 
be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will 
be made from the next payroll check. 
 
Witness Duty 
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted 
below, and gives testimony before a court of law or governmental administrative 
agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the 
working day which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to 
three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.  For cases involving 
extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with 
pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay.  When the 
employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be 
presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will 
be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not be paid when such 
testimony is given in any employee relations related litigation involving the employer 
or any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to 
testify. 
 
Parental Leave 
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request 
of the employee to the Director of Personnel.  In the event that the employee is 
pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days 
after the Director of Personnel is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after 
the birth of the child.  For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be 
requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child is 
expected in the home.  In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period 
may be waived.  Leaves may be requested for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and 
are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which 
s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to re-



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.10S/page 10 of 10 
 
employment.  For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group 
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the 
full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office. 
 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than six (6) years old shall 
be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the 
adoptive child.  In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must 
notify the Director of Personnel and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the 
request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption.  All such 
leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to the 
employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
Holidays and Vacations 
 
Registered Nurses shall be paid for the following holidays when they occur on days 
which they would have worked if it were not for that special day, subject to the 
provisions above: 
 
 A. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 
   
 B. Presidents Day 
   
 C. Memorial Day 
   
 D. Labor Day 
   
 E. Thanksgiving Day and the following Friday (two (2) days) 
   
 F. Christmas Day - (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday 

on the Friday preceding or the Monday following) 
 
Payment of State Licensing Fees 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools will reimburse each Registered Nurse for the 
biennial licensing fee paid to the State of Indiana by the nurse. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.11S/page 1 of 10 
 
 
 

SOCIAL WORKERS’ COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
 
Social Workers’ Salary Schedule 
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for social 
workers to be effective for the 2016 2017 calendar year.  In addition, the three 
percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community 
Schools. 
 
   Salary with Salary with 
  Experience* as Bachelors  Masters  
 Step Social Worker Degree Degree 
 1 Less than 1 year 29,383 

30,194 
32,229 
33,119 

 2 1 year or more, but less than 3 years 30,802 
31,652 

33,648 
34,577 

 3 3 years or more, but less than 5 years 32,229 
33,119 

35,227 
36,199 

 4 5 years or more, but less than 7 years 33,648 
34,577 

36,658 
37,670 

 5 7 years or more, but less than 9 years 35,227 
36,199 

38,076 
39,127 

 6 9 years or more, but less than 11 years 36,658 
37,670 

39,490 
40,580 

 7 11 years or more, but less than 13 years 38,076 
39,127 

40,918 
42,047 

 8 13 years or more, but less than 15 years 39,490 
40,580 

41,779 
42,932 

 9 15 years or more 40,918 
42,047 

43,207 
44,400 

 
 A.* Each two (2) years of verified related past experience will be credited 

as one (1) year of ECS experience. 
   
 B. Experience with Elkhart Community Schools will be updated 

annually effective on January 1st. 
   
 C. Social workers will be assigned to work 189 days annually.  In the 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.11S/page 2 of 10 
 

event that a social worker is not permitted to work on a regularly 
scheduled work day on account of an emergency closing at his/her 
assigned school building, the social worker will make arrangements 
with his/her immediate supervisor to make up the work time 
missed. 

 
Fringe Benefits 
 
 A. Income Protection and Annuities 
   
  The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for 

regular classified employees to purchase income protection and tax 
sheltered annuities.  This is done by specifications and through 
company or broker approved by the Board of Schools Trustees of the 
Elkhart Community Schools. 

   
 B. Insurance 
   
  In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community 

Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular classified 
employee who is a member of the group hospitalization, major 
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School 
Trustees.  Effective January 1, 2015, the Board will pay $5,500 (for 
single, full-time coverage), $4,400 (for single, half-time coverage), 
$11,000 (for family, full-time coverage), $8,800 (for family, half-time 
coverage) or $11,275 (for family, full-time coverage, both employed) 
of the premium cost of a group hospitalization and major medical 
insurance plan, prescription drug, dental (where applicable) and life 
insurance for all Social Workers.  The employee may select one or 
the other plan provided by the Board. 

   
  The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the 

employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the next thousand 
dollars.  The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the 
premium cost of a group long-term disability insurance policy for 
employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 

   
 C. Severance Benefits 
   
  Social Workers who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of 

active service with the Elkhart Community Schools will be eligible 
for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.11S/page 3 of 10 
 

Director of Personnel at least ten (10) working days prior to the last 
date of employment. 

   
 1. Resignation 
   
  Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave 

in the current year of employment at the rate of pay in effect 
at termination.  The effective date of resignation shall be 
established to include use of all personal leave. 

   
 2. Retirement, Death, or Disability 
   
  The benefits listed below are in addition to those in Social 

Workers’ Fringe Benefits. 
   
 a. For purposes of this benefit, “retirement” shall be 

defined as resignation by an employee who at the time 
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more 
consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart 
Community Schools.  Only the six (6) months service 
requirement must be met to be eligible for the 
disability or death benefit. 

   
 b. A maximum of thirty (30) accumulated days of unused 

personal leave will be paid to eligible employees who 
retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled 
while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools. In 
the event of death, the benefit shall be paid to the 
decedent’s estate. 

   
 c. In addition, employees who are fifty five (55) years of 

age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of 
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart 
Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least 
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in 
that program until age sixty five (65) by paying 100% of 
the premiums in advance at the business office. 

   
 d. When retiring, a Social Worker who has ten (10) years 

of service and is at least fifty-five (55) years of age may 
select one of the following benefits based upon the 
employee’s daily rate at the time of retirement: 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.11S/page 4 of 10 
 
   
 1) One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools, or 
   
 2) At least forty percent (40%) of the unused sick 

leave will be paid, in accordance with the 
provisions in the Social Workers employee 
booklet. 

   
 D. Change in Classification 
   
  When any classified employee is employed in another classified 

employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years 
of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, 
subject to Board Policy. 

 
Absences 
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give 
the reason for absence to his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible.  This 
notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the employee 
regularly reports for work.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of 
absence.  Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an 
absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay 
is not to be received.) 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain 
illness and leave benefits.  Absences for all classified personnel in addition to the 
days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for 
which prior approval has been granted.  Any absence of an employee may, at the 
discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification 
satisfactory to the employer.  Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school 
year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or 
termination.  Upon written request received by the appropriate administrator, at 
least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or 
less consecutive working days may be approved.  The best interests of the school 
corporation will be considered. 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.11S/page 5 of 10 
 
Regular school-year classified employees will be allowed the number of hours equal 
to one (1) workday per month of employment for personal illness/family illness 
absence.   
 
Any unused hours will accumulate as illness absence to a total of the number of 
hours equal to 120 workdays.  Use of accumulated sick leave by a school year 
employee terminates at the close of the school year.  It cannot be used again unless 
the employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a later date. 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work 
following an illness. 
 
Family Illness 
 
As used in this section, “immediate family” includes spouse, child, sister, brother, 
mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, 
grandparent, grandchild, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, and any other member of the 
family unit who is regularly living in the same household as the employee.  “Family 
Unit” shall mean any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or 
any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian. 
 
Job-Related Injury 
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's 
Compensation. The employee is required to complete an injury report form on the 
day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the 
employer.  Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury 
arising out of and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by 
Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation.  Worker's Compensation benefits 
will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty six and two thirds 
percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate.  The employee's share of the 
health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or 
insurance will be terminated.  An employee may receive full pay by using available 
illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Bereavement 
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on 
account of death in the immediate family for a period extending not more than 
seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately beyond each death. 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.11S/page 6 of 10 
 
“Immediate family” is defined as father, mother, brother, sister, spouse, child, 
grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister-in-law, 
brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or any other member of the family unit 
regularly living in the same household as the employee. 
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend 
the funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted 
by the Superintendent or designee. 
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be 
required or shall elect to enter the military service.  This will permit the employee to 
return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be 
entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) 
calendar year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee 
has received the military pay he/she shall present the check or a copy of the check 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made 
for each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from 
temporary training or leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position 
without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 
Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave 
for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee 
is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.11S/page 7 of 10 
 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 
 
Health Leave - Administrative Regulation 
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal 
illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and vacation benefits, may be placed on a 
health leave. 
 
 A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
   
 B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular 

duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or 
   
 C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the 

Director of Personnel from the appropriate administrator. 
 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within 
thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for termination.  
In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a 
physician.  The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer. 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may 
submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating 
the ability to perform the job responsibilities.  Employment will be held for a period 
of up to one (1) year.  After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be 
eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes 
available. 
 
Personal Leave 
 
Social Workers are entitled to personal leave equivalent to the number of hours equal 
to three (3) regular work days without loss of pay each year.  A personal leave request 
form shall be completed and submitted to the appropriate administrator to accompany 
the payroll report for the period in which the absence occurs. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 
 
Personal Leave - Procedure 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.11S/page 8 of 10 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee's supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 
absence. 
 
Personal Leave can be taken at any time upon the approval of the supervisor or 
authorized designee.  No personal leave will be granted for participation in any strike 
or work stoppage or other concerted action by an employee or employee group. 
 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay 
 
Jury Duty 
 
All Social Workers will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to 
serve on the jury.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the 
employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check shall 
be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will 
be made from the next payroll check. 
 
Witness Duty 
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted 
below, and gives testimony before a court of law or governmental administrative 
agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the 
working day which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to 
three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.  For cases involving 
extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with 
pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay.  When the 
employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be 
presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will 
be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not be paid when such 
testimony is given in any employee relations related litigation involving the employer 
or any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to 
testify. 
 
Parental Leave 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.11S/page 9 of 10 
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request 
of the employee to the Director of Personnel.  In the event that the employee is 
pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days 
after the Director of Personnel is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after 
the birth of the child.  For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be 
requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child is 
expected in the home.  In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period 
may be waived.  Leaves may be requested for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and 
are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which 
s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to re-
employment.  For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group 
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the 
full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office. 
 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than six (6) years old shall 
be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the 
adoptive child.  In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must 
notify the Director of Personnel and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the 
request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption.  All such 
leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to the 
employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
Holidays and Vacations 
 
Social Workers shall be paid for the following holidays when they occur on days 
which they would have worked if it were not for that special day, subject to the 
provisions above: 
 
 A. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 
   
 B. Presidents Day 
   
 C. Memorial Day 
   
 D. Labor Day 
   
 E. Thanksgiving Day and the following Friday (two (2) days) 
   



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.11S/page 10 of 10 
 
 F. Christmas Day - (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday 

on the Friday preceding or the Monday following) 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.12S/page 1 of 15 
 
 
 

EMPLOYEES IN MISCELLANEOUS POSITIONS COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for 
Employees to be effective for January 1, 20162017.  In addition, the three 
percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community 
Schools. 
 

POSITION HOURLY 
 WAGE RANGE 

Assistant Supervisor of Transportation 22.6823.31 – 28.0128.78 
Transportation Trainer/Dispatcher 18.9019.42 – 22.0822.69 
Food Service Truck Driver 15.1715.59 – 18.0218.52 
Food Service Receiving/Supply 15.1715.59 – 18.0218.52 
Evening Supervisor of Building Services 19.8920.44 – 24.4825.16 
Food Service Training Specialist 17.1917.66 – 24.0824.74 
Food Service Bids & Commodity Coordinator 16.3716.82 – 25.5826.29 
Executive Chef & Culinary Event Coordinator 16.3716.82 – 25.5826.29 
Quality Assurance Coordinator 18.9019.42 – 22.0822.69 
Production Coordinator 18.9019.42 – 22.0822.69 
Transportation Route/Driver Coordinator 18.9019.42 – 22.0822.69 
Adult/Community Education Non-Contract Teachers 31.4332.06 * 
Building Community Education Coordinator 26.4127.14 – 33.0233.93 
Radio Station Staff Announcer 8.909.15 – 12.6613.01 
Radio Station Development Assistant 10.3510.64 – 16.5617.02 
School Security Officer 22.4325.00 
Title I/Funded Pupil/Program/Parent Support Person 18.8719.39 – 27.4828.24 
High School Parent/Community Liaison 18.8719.39 – 27.4828.24 
District Translator 18.8719.39 – 27.4828.24 
Evening Events Supervisor 14.2814.67 
Asst. Site Coordinator - 21st Century Community Learning Center  14.00 
After-School Community Education Organized Activities Leader 14.00 
After-School Community Education Organized Activities Assistant 9.39 
Deaf/Hard of Hearing Educational Interpreter 15.5315.96 – 29.0029.80 
Early College Data Specialist 23.3624.00 – 26.6927.43 
*    Hourly rate based on .001 of the certified teacher’s base salary 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.12S/page 2 of 15 
 
 
 
POSITION YEARLY 
 SALARY RANGE 
Radio Station Manager 47,86049,181 – 71,10572,067 
Radio Station Development Director 45,04246,285 – 68,15770,038 
Radio Station Business Account Manager  35,55036,531 – 67,02368,873 
Radio Station Program Director 35,55036,531 – 54,69456,204 
Radio Station Senior Reporter and Assignment Editor 30,71131,559 – 44,96946,210 
Radio Station Operations Manager 24,61325,292 – 40,33741,450 
Radio Station Morning Edition Host 27,93328,704 – 43,97045,184 
Radio Station Promotions Manager 28,73029,523 – 42,74843,928 
Radio Station Membership Manager 31,86232,741 – 45,13846,384 
Olweus Bullying Prevention Program Coordinator 41,10742,242 – 55,61657,151 
Assistant Supervisor of Building Services 53,04054,504 – 66,30068,130 
Adult and Community Education Program Manager 61,20062,889 – 71,40073,371 
Data Specialist 36,24737,247 – 56,95958,531 
Digital Communication and Data Support Specialist 36,24737,247 – 56,95958,531 
School Psychologist Intern 35,52036,230 
21st Century Community Learning Center Coordinator 2,500 (per semester) 
 
An hourly employee who is required to report to work to respond to an emergency 
outside of the employee’s regular work hours will be paid for a minimum of two (2) 
hours. 
 
Fringe Benefits 
 
 A. Income Protection and Annuities 
   
  The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for 

regular classified employees to purchase income protection and tax 
sheltered annuities.  This is done by specifications and through 
company or broker approved by the Board of Schools Trustees of the 
Elkhart Community Schools. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.12S/page 3 of 15 
 
 
   
 B. Insurance 
   
  In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community 

Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular classified 
employee who is a member of the group hospitalization, major 
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School 
Trustees.  Effective January 1, 2015, the Board will pay $5,500 (for 
single, full-time coverage), $4,400 (for single, half-time coverage), 
$11,000 (for family, full-time coverage), $8,800 (for family, half-time 
coverage) or $11,275 (for family, full-time coverage, both employed) 
of the premium cost of a group hospitalization and major medical 
insurance plan, prescription drug, dental (where applicable) and life 
insurance for all Employees.  The employee may select one or the 
other plan provided by the Board. 

   
  The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the 

employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the next thousand 
dollars.  The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the 
premium cost of a group long-term disability insurance policy for 
employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 

   
 C. Severance Benefits 
   
  Employees in Miscellaneous Positions who have completed a 

minimum of six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart 
Community Schools will be eligible for the following benefits upon 
written resignation received by the Director of Personnel at least 
ten (10) working days prior to the last date of employment. 

   
 1. Resignation 
   
  Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave 

in the current year of employment.  Vacation days earned in 
the current year shall also be paid to full-time employees.  
Payment for unused personal leave and vacation shall be 
made at the rate of pay in effect at termination.  The effective 
date of resignation shall be established to include use of all 
personal leave and unused vacation days. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.12S/page 4 of 15 
 
 
   
 2. Retirement, Death, or Disability 
   
  The benefits listed below are in addition to those in 

Employees’ Fringe Benefits. 
   
 a. For purposes of this benefit, “retirement” shall be 

defined as resignation by an employee who at the time 
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more 
consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart 
Community Schools.  Only the six (6) months service 
requirement must be met to be eligible for the 
disability or death benefit. 

   
 b. A maximum of thirty (30) accumulated days of unused 

personal leave will be paid to eligible employees who 
retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled 
while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools. In 
the event of death, the benefit shall be paid to the 
decedent’s estate. 

   
 c. In addition, employees who are fifty five (55) years of 

age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of 
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart 
Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least 
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in 
that program until age sixty five (65) by paying 100% of 
the premiums in advance at the business office. 

   
 d. A miscellaneous employee who retires at age fifty-

five (55) or older with ten (10) or more consecutive 
years of service, or a miscellaneous employee who dies 
with ten (10) or more consecutive years of service is 
eligible to select one of the following benefits based 
upon the employee’s daily rate at the time of 
retirement: 

   
 1) One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools, or 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.12S/page 5 of 15 
 
 
   
 2) At least forty-five percent (45%) of the unused 

sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the 
provisions in the Employees employee booklet. 

   
 In the case of the death of an eligible employee, this 

benefit will be paid to the employee’s beneficiary. 
   
 e. Any miscellaneous employee who has perfect 

attendance, other than vacation, bereavement, or 
personal leave, in any full year subsequent to January 
1, 2006, shall be paid the sum of $100 for each year at 
the time of retirement.  Any employee who is absent for 
any reason for five (5) or less days, other than vacation, 
bereavement, or personal leave days, shall be paid the 
sum of $50 for each year at the time of retirement. 

   
 D. Change in Classification 
   
  When any classified employee is employed in another classified 

employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years 
of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, 
subject to Board Policy. 

 
Absences 
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give 
the reason for absence to his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible.  This 
notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the employee 
regularly reports for work.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of 
absence.  Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an 
absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay 
is not to be received.) 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.12S/page 6 of 15 
 
 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain 
illness and leave benefits.  Absences for all classified personnel in addition to the 
days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for 
which prior approval has been granted.  Any absence of an employee may, at the 
discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification 
satisfactory to the employer.  Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school 
year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or 
termination.  Upon written request received by the appropriate administrator, at 
least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or 
less consecutive working days may be approved.  The best interests of the school 
corporation will be considered. 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence 
 
As used in this section, “immediate family” includes spouse, child, sister, brother, 
mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, 
grandparent, grandchild, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, and any other member of the 
family unit who is regularly living in the same household as the employee.  “Family 
Unit” shall mean any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or 
any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian. 
 
Full-time classified personnel will be allowed the number of hours equal to one 
workday per month of employment for personal illness/family illness absence.  This 
will provide ninety-six (96) hours of personal illness/family illness absence annually.  
Unused personal illness/family illness absence may accumulate to a total of the 
number of hours equal to two hundred (200) days as personal illness. 
 
Regular school-year classified employees will be allowed the number of hours equal 
to one (1) workday per month of employment for personal illness/family illness 
leave.   
 
Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness absence to a total of the 
number of hours equal to 120 work days.  Use of accumulated sick leave by a 
school-year employee terminates at the close of the school year.  It cannot be used 
again unless the employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a 
later date. 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work 
following an illness. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.12S/page 7 of 15 
 
 
 
Job-Related Injury 
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's 
Compensation. The employee is required to complete an injury report form on the 
day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the 
employer.  Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury 
arising out of and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by 
Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation.  Worker's Compensation benefits 
will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty six and two thirds 
percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate.  The employee's share of the 
health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or 
insurance will be terminated.  An employee may receive full pay by using available 
illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Bereavement 
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on 
account of death in the immediate family for a period extending not more than 
seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately beyond each death. 
 
“Immediate family” is defined as father, mother, brother, sister, spouse, child, 
grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister-in-law, 
brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or any other member of the family unit 
regularly living in the same household as the employee. 
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend 
the funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted 
by the Superintendent or designee. 
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be 
required or shall elect to enter the military service.  This will permit the employee to 
return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.12S/page 8 of 15 
 
 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be 
entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) 
calendar year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee 
has received the military pay he/she shall present the check or a copy of the check 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made 
for each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from 
temporary training or leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position 
without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 
Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave 
for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee 
is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 
 
Health Leave - Procedure 
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal 
illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and vacation benefits, may be placed on a 
health leave. 
 
 A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
   
 B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular 

duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or 
   
 C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the 

Director of Personnel from the appropriate administrator. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.12S/page 9 of 15 
 
 
 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within 
thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for termination.  
In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a 
physician.  The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer. 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may 
submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating 
the ability to perform the job responsibilities.  Employment will be held for a period 
of up to one (1) year.  After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be 
eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes 
available. 
 
Personal Leave 
 
Full-time classified personnel are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) 
workdays for absence for personal reasons during each calendar year without loss of 
pay.  Regular school-year classified employees are entitled to the number of hours 
equal to two (2) workdays for absence for personal reasons during each calendar 
year without loss of pay.  A personal leave request form shall be completed and 
submitted to the appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll report for the 
period in which the absence occurs. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 
 
Personal Leave - Procedure 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee’s supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 
absence. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.12S/page 10 of 15 
 
 
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole 
purpose of extending the school vacation periods of Fall Recess, Thanksgiving, 
Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break as defined by the school calendar 
unless the employee complies with the following procedure: 
 
 A. Once every five (5) years an employee may use personal business 

hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by 
exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business 
hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

   
 B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the 

Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day. 
   
 C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding 

or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon 
approval of the Superintendent or designee.  For the purpose of 
determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall be defined 
as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending 
to his or her assigned duties. 

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay 
 
Jury Duty 
 
All Employees in Miscellaneous Positions will be granted excused absence when they 
are subpoenaed to serve on the jury.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  
When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the 
check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury 
duty pay will be made from the next payroll check. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.12S/page 11 of 15 
 
 
 
Witness Duty 
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted 
below, and gives testimony before a court of law or governmental administrative 
agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the 
working day which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to 
three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.  For cases involving 
extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with 
pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay.  When the 
employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be 
presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will 
be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not be paid when such 
testimony is given in any employee relations related litigation involving the employer 
or any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to 
testify. 
 
Parental Leave 
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request 
of the employee to the Director of Personnel.  In the event that the employee is 
pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days 
after the Director of Personnel is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after 
the birth of the child.  For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be 
requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child is 
expected in the home.  In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period 
may be waived.  Leaves may be requested for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and 
are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which 
s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to re-
employment.  For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group 
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the 
full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.12S/page 12 of 15 
 
 
 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than six (6) years old shall 
be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the 
adoptive child.  In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must 
notify the Director of Personnel and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the 
request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption.  All such 
leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to the 
employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
Holidays and Vacations 
 
Definitions 
 
 A. As used in this policy, the term "full-time employee" means an 

employee who is employed on a twelve-month basis and who has a 
regular workday of four (4) or more hours. 

   
 B. As used in this policy, the term "school year employee" means an 

employee who is employed on a school-year basis and works 
approximately one hundred seventy-five (175) or more days per year, 
and who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours. 

 
Holidays 
 
 A. Full-time classified employees shall be paid for the following holidays, 

when they occur on days which would have been worked if it were not 
for that special day, subject to the provisions below: 

   
  New Year's - two days 
   
  Martin Luther King Jr. Day 
   
  Presidents Day 
   
  Memorial Day 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.12S/page 13 of 15 
 
 
   
  Independence Day – two (2) days 
   
  Labor Day 
   
  Thanksgiving - two (2) days 
   
  Christmas - two (2) days 
   
 1. During the winter break (when schools are closed) four (4) 

days will be allowed as follows: 
   
 a. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekday, 

they shall be paid holidays, and a classified employee 
may, subject to approval of the immediate supervisor, 
select either but not both December 24 or 
December 26 as a holiday with pay, and may, subject 
to approval of the immediate supervisor, select either 
but not both December 31 or January 2 as a holiday 
with pay.  To be eligible for either of the above 
selections, a classified employee must make such 
request to the immediate supervisor no later than 
December 10. 

   
 b. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekend, 

then both the Friday before and the Monday after shall 
be paid holidays, unless schools are open on one of 
these days, in which case an alternate day will be 
determined. 

   
 2. When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid 

holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following, 
unless school is in session. 

   
 3. Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays. 
   
 4. Presidents’ Day will be a paid holidays. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.12S/page 14 of 15 
 
 
   
 B. School-year classified employees shall be paid for the following 

holidays when they occur on days which they would have worked if 
it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions above: 

   
  Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 
   
  Presidents Day 
   
  Memorial Day 
   
  Labor Day 
   
  Thanksgiving Day and the following Friday (two (2) days) 
   
  Christmas Day - (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday 

on the Friday preceding or the Monday following) 
 
Vacations 
 
 A. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31, been employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools for less than one (1) calendar year, 
shall be entitled to one (1) working day vacation with pay during the 
next calendar year, for each full month of employment completed, 
provided that no more than ten (10) vacation days may be accrued. 

   
 B. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for that entire 
calendar year, shall be entitled to ten (10) working days vacation 
with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 C. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for six (6) consecutive 
years, is entitled to fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay 
during the next calendar year. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.12S/page 15 of 15 
 
 
   
 D. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for fifteen (15) 
consecutive years, is entitled to twenty (20) working days vacation 
with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 E. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for twenty (20) 
consecutive years, is entitled to twenty-five (25) working days 
vacation with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 F. Years shall be considered "consecutive" so long as any interruption 

of service did not include other employment. 
   
 G. For purposes of computing an employee's number of years of service 

in the school corporation, a school-year employee who subsequently 
changes to full-time employee status will have the number of paid 
hours as a school year employee divided by 2080 to obtain the 
number of years of school corporation service to be used in 
determining the working days vacation which such full-time 
employee is entitled to receive under this policy. 

   
 H. Dates requested for use as vacation days shall be submitted to the 

immediate supervisor prior to the first day of requested vacation, 
and shall be subject to the approval of the immediate supervisor. 

   
 I. Vacation days will be available to the staff member during the 

twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6) months beyond. 
   
 J. Only 12-month employees will be entitled to paid vacation days. 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.13S/page 1 of 11 
 
 
 

THERAPISTS’ COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for those 
classified employees who are acting in a Therapist or Therapist Technician position 
to be effective January 1, 20162017.  In addition, the three percent (3%) employee 
contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community Schools. 
 
POSITION YEARLY SALARY RANGE 
  
Occupational Therapist 43,14644,337 - 61,73263,436 
Occupational Therapist Assistant 41,32142,461 - 50,14951,533 
Physical Therapist Assistant 41,32142,461 - 50, 14951,533 
  
POSITION HOURLY WAGE 
  
Physical Therapist $42.0043.16 - $55.0056.52 
Speech Language Pathology Assistant (SLPA) $25.4826.18 - $32.6533.55 
  
  
Years Regularly Employed by or in Amount of Hourly 
the Elkhart Community Schools Career Increment 
  
5 or more, but less than 10 $.20 
10 or more, but less than 15 $.30 
15 or more, but less than 20 $.50 
20 or more $.70 
 
License Renewal 
 
Elkhart Community Schools will reimburse Therapists for their bi-annual state 
license renewal fees following submission of evidence said fee has been paid in a 
timely manner. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.13S/page 2 of 11 
 
 
 
Fringe Benefits 
 
 A. Income Protection and Annuities 
   
  The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for 

regular classified employees to purchase income protection and tax-
sheltered annuities.  This is done by specifications and through 
company or broker approved by the Board of Schools Trustees of the 
Elkhart Community Schools. 

   
 B. Insurance 
   
  In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community 

Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular classified 
employee who is a member of the group hospitalization, major 
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School 
Trustees.  Effective January 1, 2015, the Board will pay $5,500 (for 
single, full-time coverage), $4,400 (for single, half-time coverage), 
$11,000 (for family, full-time coverage), $8,800 (for family, half-time 
coverage) or $11,275 (for family, full-time coverage, both employed) 
of the premium cost of a group hospitalization and major medical 
insurance plan, prescription drug, dental (where applicable) and life 
insurance for all therapists.  The employee may select one or the 
other plan provided by the Board. 

   
  The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the 

employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the next thousand 
dollars.  The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the 
premium cost of a group long-term disability insurance policy for 
employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.13S/page 3 of 11 
 
 
   
 C. Severance Benefits 
   
  Therapists who have completed a minimum of six (6) months of 

active service with the Elkhart Community Schools will be eligible 
for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the 
Director of Personnel at least ten (10) working days prior to the last 
date of employment. 

   
 1. Resignation 
   
  Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave 

in the current year of employment.  Vacation days earned in 
the current year shall also be paid to full-time employees.  
Payment for unused personal leave and vacation shall be 
made at the rate of pay in effect at termination.  The effective 
date of resignation shall be established to include use of all 
personal leave and unused vacation days. 

   
 2. Retirement, Death, or Disability 
   
  The benefits listed below are in addition to those in 

Therapists’ Fringe Benefits. 
   
 a. For purposes of this benefit, “retirement” shall be 

defined as resignation by an employee who at the time 
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more 
consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart 
Community Schools.  Only the six (6) months service 
requirement must be met to be eligible for the 
disability or death benefit. 

   
 b. A maximum of thirty (30) accumulated days of unused 

personal leave will be paid to eligible employees who 
retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled 
while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools. In 
the event of death, the benefit shall be paid to the 
decedent’s estate. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.13S/page 4 of 11 
 
 
   
 c. In addition, employees who are fifty five (55) years of 

age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of 
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart 
Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least 
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in 
that program until age sixty five (65) by paying 100% of 
the premiums in advance at the business office. 

   
 d. When retiring, a therapist who has ten (10) years of 

service and is at least fifty-five (55) years of age may 
select one of the following benefits based upon the 
employee’s daily rate at the time of retirement: 

   
 1) One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools, or 
   
 2) At least forty-five percent (45%) of the unused 

sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the 
provisions in the therapist employee booklet. 

   
 D. Change in Therapists Classification 
   
  When any classified employee is employed in another classified 

employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years 
of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, 
subject to Board Policy. 

 
Absences 
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give 
the reason for absence to his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible.  This 
notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the employee 
regularly reports for work.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of 
absence.  Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an 
absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay 
is not to be received.) 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.13S/page 5 of 11 
 
 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain 
illness and leave benefits.  Absences for all classified personnel in addition to the 
days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for 
which prior approval has been granted.  Any absence of an employee may, at the 
discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification 
satisfactory to the employer.  Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school 
year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or 
termination.  Upon written request received by the appropriate administrator, at 
least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or 
less consecutive working days may be approved.  The best interests of the school 
corporation will be considered. 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence 
 
Regular school-year classified employees will be allowed the number of hours equal 
to one (1) workday per month of employment for personal illness/family illness 
leave.   
 
Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness absence to a total of the 
number of hours equal to 120 work days.  Use of accumulated sick leave by a 
school-year employee terminates at the close of the school year.  It cannot be used 
again unless the employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a 
later date. 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work 
following an illness. 
 
Family Illness 
 
“Immediate family” is defined as father, mother, brother, sister, spouse, child, 
grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister-in-law, 
brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or any other member of the family unit 
regularly living in the same household as the employee. “Family Unit” shall mean 
any person related to the employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for 
whom the employee is the legal guardian. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.13S/page 6 of 11 
 
 
 
Job-Related Injury 
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's 
Compensation. The employee is required to complete an injury report form on the 
day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the 
employer.  Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury 
arising out of and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by 
Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation.  Worker's Compensation benefits 
will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty six and two thirds 
percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate.  The employee's share of the 
health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or 
insurance will be terminated.  An employee may receive full pay by using available 
illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Bereavement 
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on 
account of death in the immediate family for a period extending not more than 
seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately beyond each death. 
 
“Immediate family” is defined as father, mother, brother, sister, spouse, child, 
grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister-in-law, 
brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or any other member of the family unit 
regularly living in the same household as the employee. 
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend 
the funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted 
by the Superintendent or designee. 
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be 
required or shall elect to enter the military service.  This will permit the employee to 
return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.13S/page 7 of 11 
 
 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be 
entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) 
calendar year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee 
has received the military pay he/she shall present the check or a copy of the check 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made 
for each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from 
temporary training or leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position 
without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 
Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave 
for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee 
is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 
 
Health Leave - Administrative Regulation 
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal 
illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and vacation benefits, may be placed on a 
health leave. 
 
 A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
   
 B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular 

duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or 
   
 C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the 

Director of Personnel from the appropriate administrator. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.13S/page 8 of 11 
 
 
 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within 
thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for termination.  
In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a 
physician.  The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer. 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may 
submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating 
the ability to perform the job responsibilities.  Employment will be held for a period 
of up to one (1) year.  After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be 
eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes 
available. 
 
Personal Leave 
 
Therapists are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) workdays for 
absence for personal reasons during each calendar year without loss of pay.  A 
personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the appropriate 
administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which the absence 
occurs. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 
 
Personal Leave - Procedure 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee’s supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 
absence. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.13S/page 9 of 11 
 
 
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole 
purpose of extending the school vacation periods of Fall Recess, Thanksgiving, 
Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break as defined by the school calendar 
unless the employee complies with the following procedure: 
 
 A. Once every five (5) years an employee may use personal business 

hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by 
exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business 
hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

   
 B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the 

Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day. 
   
 C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding 

or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon 
approval of the Superintendent or designee.  For the purpose of 
determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall be defined 
as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending 
to his or her assigned duties. 

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay 
 
Jury Duty 
 
All therapists will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to serve 
on the jury.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee has 
received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check shall be presented 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made 
from the next payroll check. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.13S/page 10 of 11 
 
 
 
Witness Duty 
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted 
below, and gives testimony before a court of law or governmental administrative 
agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the 
working day which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to 
three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.  For cases involving 
extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with 
pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay.  When the 
employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be 
presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will 
be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not be paid when such 
testimony is given in any employee relations related litigation involving the employer 
or any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to 
testify. 
 
Parental Leave 
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request 
of the employee to the Director of Personnel.  In the event that the employee is 
pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days 
after the Director of Personnel is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after 
the birth of the child.  For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be 
requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child is 
expected in the home.  In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period 
may be waived.  Leaves may be requested for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and 
are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which 
s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to re-
employment.  For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group 
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the 
full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.13S/page 11 of 11 
 
 
 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than six (6) years old shall 
be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the 
adoptive child.  In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must 
notify the Director of Personnel and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the 
request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption.  All such 
leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to the 
employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
Holidays 
 
Therapists shall be paid for the following holidays when they occur on days which 
they would have worked if it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions 
above: 
 
 A. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 
   
 B. Presidents Day - two (2) days 
   
 C. Memorial Day 
   
 D. Labor Day 
   
 E. Thanksgiving Day and the following Friday (two (2) days) 
   
 F. Christmas Day - (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday 

on the Friday preceding or the Monday following) 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 1 of 16 
 
 
 

EMPLOYEES IN TECHNOLOGY SERVICES POSITIONS  
COMPENSATION PLAN 

 
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for the 
positions below to be effective January 1, 20162017.  In addition, the three percent 
(3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community Schools. 
 
POSITION HOURLY WAGE RANGE 
Support Technician (I) 15.6916.12 - 24.5225.20 
Office Systems Support Technician (I) 14.7115.12 - 18.3618.87 
 
POSITION YEARLY SALARY RANGE 
Network Engineer (V) 61,20062,889 - 90,78093,286 
Technical Support Manager (IV) 63,24064,985 – 88,74091,189 
Computer Systems Specialist (IV) 57,12058,697 – 77,52079,660 
Office Systems Support Manager (III) 48,96050,311 – 68,34070,226 
Database Administrator/Programmer (III) 45,43646,690 – 69,46971,386 
Technical Support Specialist (III) 48,96050,311 – 68,34070,226 
Advanced Support Technician (II) 42,84044,022 – 61,20062,889 
Network Infrastructure Technician (II) 36,72037,733 – 61,20062,889 
Programmer/Analyst (II) 42,84044,022 – 61,20062,889 
Office Systems Support Specialist (II) 40,80041,926 – 59,16060,793 
 
Fringe Benefits 
 
Placement shall be determined on verified past experience.  Policies which are 
applicable to all other classified employees shall be applicable to these positions. 
 
 A. Income Protection and Annuities 
   
  The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for 

regular classified employees to purchase income protection and tax-
sheltered annuities.  This is done by specifications and through 
company or broker approved by the Board of Schools Trustees of the 
Elkhart Community Schools. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 2 of 16 
 
 
   
 B. Insurance 
   
  In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community 

Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular classified 
employee who is a member of the group hospitalization, major 
medical, dental, prescription drugs and life insurance program 
approved by the Board of School Trustees.  Effective January 1, 
2015, the Board will pay $5,500 (for single, full-time coverage), 
$4,400 (for single, half-time coverage), $11,000 (for family, full time 
coverage), $8,800 (for family, half-time coverage), or $11,275 (for 
family, full-time coverage, both employed) of the premium cost of 
such plan. The employee may select one or the other plan provided 
by the Board.   

   
  The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the 

employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the next thousand 
dollars.  The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the 
premium cost of a group long-term disability insurance policy for 
employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 

   
 C. Information Technology Skills/Certification Training 
   
  In order to properly serve our schools, Elkhart Community Schools 

must ensure that its technology service employees are professionally 
educated, trained and certified within the industry and with those 
products and services which the district provides.  Throughout the 
term of employment, Elkhart Community Schools expects its 
technology service employees to undergo training on behalf of 
Elkhart Community Schools to advance their skills, to update or 
gain new certifications, and/or to remain current with industry 
developments. 

   
  Elkhart Community Schools will pay for the costs of training 

pursuant to the following requirements: 
   
 1. Training must be completed successfully.  Training leading to 

certification must result in obtaining said certification. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 3 of 16 
 
 
   
 2. The training must be approved in advance.  Such training 

may be requested by technology service employees, or may be 
directed by the Director of Technology. 

   
 3. The “INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SKILLS/CERTIFICATION 

TRAINING” request form must be prepared and submitted in 
advance of such training.  Requested training will be subject 
to the approval of the Director of Technology. 

   
 In consideration for Elkhart Community Schools’ agreement to pay 

for training costs, technology service employees requesting such 
training agree to repay Elkhart Community Schools for the costs of 
training on a pro-rated basis, rounded to the nearest month, in the 
event that the technology service employee leaves the employ of 
Elkhart Community Schools within two years following the 
completion of any such training.  At the discretion of the Director of 
Technology, this requirement may be waived with consideration to 
whether the technology service employee is continuing his or her 
employment within an information technology field. 

  
 The Director of Technology shall develop the forms necessary for 

implementation of this section of Board Policy. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 4 of 16 
 
 
   
 D. Severance Benefits 
   
  Technology Services Employees who have completed a minimum of 

six (6) months of active service with the Elkhart Community Schools 
will be eligible for the following benefits upon written resignation 
received by the Director of Personnel at least ten (10) working days 
prior to the last date of employment. 

   
 1. Resignation 
   
  Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave 

in the current year of employment.  Vacation days earned in 
the current year shall also be paid to full-time employees.  
Payment for unused personal leave and vacation shall be 
made at the rate of pay in effect at termination.  The effective 
date of resignation shall be established to include use of all 
personal leave and unused vacation days. 

   
 2. Retirement, Death, or Disability 
   
  The benefits listed below are in addition to those in 

Technology Services Employees’ Fringe Benefits. 
   
 a. For purposes of this benefit, “retirement” shall be 

defined as resignation by an employee who at the time 
of retirement is age fifty-five (55) and has ten (10) or 
more consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart 
Community Schools.  Only the six (6) months service 
requirement must be met to be eligible for the 
disability or death benefit. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 5 of 16 
 
 
   
 b. A maximum of thirty (30) accumulated days of unused 

personal leave will be paid to eligible employees who 
retire, die, or become totally permanently disabled 
while employed by the Elkhart Community Schools.  
Vacation days earned in the current year shall also be 
paid prior to retirement, or upon disability termination 
or death of the employee.  In the event of death, the 
benefit shall be paid to the decedent’s estate. 

   
 c. In addition, employees who are fifty five (55) years of 

age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of 
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart 
Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least 
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in 
that program until age sixty five (65) by paying 100% of 
the premiums in advance at the business office. 

   
 d. A Technology Services Employee who retires at age 

fifty-five (55) or older with ten (10) or more consecutive 
years of service, or a Technology Services Employee 
who dies with ten (10) or more consecutive years of 
service is eligible to select one of the following benefits 
based upon the employee’s daily rate at the time of 
retirement: 

   
 1) One (1) day’s pay for each full year employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools, or 
   
 2) At least forty-five percent (45%) of the unused 

sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the 
provisions in the therapist employee booklet. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 6 of 16 
 
 
   
 e. Any Technology Services Employee who has perfect 

attendance, other than vacation, bereavement, 
or personal leave, in any full year subsequent to 
January 1, 2006, shall be paid the sum of $100 for 
each year at the time of retirement.  Any employee who 
is absent for any reason for five (5) or less days, other 
than vacation, bereavement, or personal leave days, 
shall be paid the sum of $50 for each year at the time 
of retirement. 

   
 D. Change in Support Staff Classification 
   
  When any classified employee is employed in another classified 

employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years 
of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, 
subject to Board Policy. 

 
Absences 
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give 
the reason for absence to his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible.  This 
notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the employee 
regularly reports for work.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of 
absence.  Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an 
absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay 
is not to be received.) 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain 
illness and leave benefits.  Absences for all classified personnel in addition to the 
days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for 
which prior approval has been granted.  Any absence of an employee may, at the 
discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification 
satisfactory to the employer.  Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school 
year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or 
termination.  Upon written request received by the appropriate administrator, at 
least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or 
less consecutive working days may be approved.  The best interests of the school 
corporation will be considered. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 7 of 16 
 
 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence 
 
As used in this section, “immediate family” includes spouse, child, sister, brother, 
mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, 
grandparent, grandchild, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, and any other member of the 
family unit who is regularly living in the same household as the employee. 
 
“Family Unit” shall mean any person related to the employee, genetically or by 
marriage, or any person for whom the employee is the legal guardian. 
 
Full-time classified personnel will be allowed the number of hours equal to one 
workday per month of employment for personal illness/family illness absence.  This 
will provide ninety-six (96) hours of personal illness/family illness absence annually.  
Unused personal illness/family illness absence may accumulate to a total of the 
number of hours equal to two hundred (200) days as personal illness.  
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work 
following an illness. 
 
Job-Related Injury 
 
An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is eligible for Worker's 
Compensation. The employee is required to complete an injury report form on the 
day of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the 
employer.  Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury 
arising out of and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by 
Indiana laws regarding Worker's Compensation.  Worker's Compensation benefits 
will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and two-thirds 
percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's average wage rate.  The employee's share of the 
health/life insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or 
insurance will be terminated.  An employee may receive full pay by using available 
illness absence, personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
Bereavement 
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on 
account of death in the immediate family for a period extending not more than 
seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately beyond each death. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 8 of 16 
 
 
 
“Immediate family” is defined as father, mother, brother, sister, spouse, child, 
grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister-in-law, 
brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or any other member of the family unit 
regularly living in the same household as the employee. 
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend 
the funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted 
by the Superintendent or designee. 
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be 
required or shall elect to enter the military service.  This will permit the employee to 
return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be 
entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) 
calendar year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee 
has received the military pay he/she shall present the check or a copy of the check 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made 
for each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from 
temporary training or leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position 
without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 
Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave 
for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee 
is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 9 of 16 
 
 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 
 
Health Leave - Procedure 
 
An employee with at least one (1) year’s service, who has used all of his/her personal 
illness, personal leave, FMLA Leave, and vacation benefits, may be placed on a 
health leave. 
 
 A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
   
 B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular 

duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or 
   
 C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the 

Director of Personnel from the appropriate administrator. 
 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within 
thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for termination.  
In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a 
physician.  The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer. 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may 
submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating 
the ability to perform the job responsibilities.  Employment will be held for a period 
of up to one (1) year.  After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be 
eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes 
available. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 10 of 16 
 
 
 
Personal Leave 
 
Full-time classified personnel are entitled to the number of hours equal to three (3) 
workdays for absence for personal reasons during each calendar year without loss of 
pay.  A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the 
appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which 
the absence occurs. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 
 
Personal Leave - Procedure 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee’s supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 
absence. 
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole 
purpose of extending the school vacation periods of Fall Recess, Thanksgiving, 
Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break as defined by the school calendar 
unless the employee complies with the following procedure: 
 
 A. Once every five (5) years an employee may use personal business 

hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by 
exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business 
hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

   
 B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the 

Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 11 of 16 
 
 
   
 C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding 

or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon 
approval of the Superintendent or designee.  For the purpose of 
determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall be defined 
as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending 
to his or her assigned duties. 

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay 
 
Jury Duty 
 
All Technology Services Employees will be granted excused absence when they are 
subpoenaed to serve on the jury.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  
When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the 
check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury 
duty pay will be made from the next payroll check. 
 
Witness Duty 
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted 
below, and gives testimony before a court of law or governmental administrative 
agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the 
working day which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to 
three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.  For cases involving 
extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with 
pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay.  When the 
employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be 
presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will 
be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not be paid when such 
testimony is given in any employee relations related litigation involving the employer 
or any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to 
testify. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 12 of 16 
 
 
 
Parental Leave 
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request 
of the employee to the Director of Personnel.  In the event that the employee is 
pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days 
after the Director of Personnel is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) days after 
the birth of the child.  For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may be 
requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child is 
expected in the home.  In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period 
may be waived.  Leaves may be requested for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and 
are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which 
s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to re-
employment.  For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group 
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the 
full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office. 
 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than six (6) years old shall 
be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the 
adoptive child.  In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must 
notify the Director of Personnel and the employee’s immediate supervisor of the 
request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption.  All such 
leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to the 
employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 13 of 16 
 
 
 
Holidays and Vacations 
 
Definitions 
 
As used in this policy, the term "full-time employee" means an employee who is 
employed on a twelve-month basis and who has a regular workday of four (4) or 
more hours. 
 
Holidays 
 
Full-time classified employees shall be paid for the following holidays, when they 
occur on days which would have been worked if it were not for that special day, 
subject to the provisions below: 
 
 A. New Year’s - two (2) days 
   
 B. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 
   
 C. Presidents Day - two (2) days 
   
 D. Memorial Day 
   
 E. Independence Day - two (2) days 
   
 D. Labor Day 
   
 E. Thanksgiving Day two (2) days 
   
 F. Christmas Day - two (2) days 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 14 of 16 
 
 
 
During the winter break (when schools are closed) four (4) days will be allowed as 
follows: 
 
 A. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekday, they shall be 

paid holidays, and a classified employee may, subject to approval of 
the immediate supervisor, select either but not both December 24 or 
December 26 as a holiday with pay, and may, subject to approval of 
the immediate supervisor, select either but not both December 31 or 
January 2 as a holiday with pay.  To be eligible for either of the 
above selections, a classified employee must make such request to 
the immediate supervisor no later than December 10. 

   
 B. When January 1 and December 25 fall on a weekend, then both the 

Friday before and the Monday after shall be paid holidays, unless 
schools are open on one of these days, in which case an alternate 
day will be determined. 

 
When any holiday is celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the Friday 
preceding or the Monday following, unless school is in session. 
 
Thanksgiving Day and the day following will be paid holidays. 
 
Presidents’ Day will be a paid holiday. 
 
Vacations 
 
 A. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31, been employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools for less than one (1) calendar year, 
shall be entitled to one (1) working day vacation with pay during the 
next calendar year, for each full month of employment completed, 
provided that no more than ten (10) vacation days may be accrued. 

   
 B. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for that entire 
calendar year, shall be entitled to ten (10) working days vacation 
with pay during the next calendar year. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 15 of 16 
 
 
   
 C. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for six consecutive 
years, is entitled to fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay 
during the next calendar year. 

   
 D. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for fifteen (15) 
consecutive years, is entitled to twenty (20) working days vacation 
with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 E. A full-time employee who has, as of December 31 of each year, been 

employed by the Elkhart Community Schools for twenty (20) 
consecutive years, is entitled to twenty-five (25) working days 
vacation with pay during the next calendar year. 

   
 F. Years shall be considered "consecutive" so long as any interruption 

of service did not include other employment. 
   
 G. For purposes of computing an employee's number of years of service 

in the school corporation, a school-year employee who subsequently 
changes to full-time employee status will have the number of paid 
hours as a school year employee divided by 2080 to obtain the 
number of years of school corporation service to be used in 
determining the working days vacation which such full-time 
employee is entitled to receive under this policy. 

   
 H. Dates requested for use as vacation days shall be submitted to the 

immediate supervisor prior to the first day of requested vacation, 
and shall be subject to the approval of the immediate supervisor.   

   
 I. Vacation days will be available to the staff member during the 

twelve (12) months of the calendar year and for six (6) months beyond. 
   
 J. Only 12-month employees will be entitled to paid vacation days. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 3422.14S/page 16 of 16 
 
 
   
 K. The Superintendent’s designee shall have the authority to place 

employees on the above-described schedule in such a way as to give 
credit for years of experience to employees whose prior employment 
was for a contractor which assigned that employee on a full time 
basis to the School District.   

 





CUSTODIAL WAGES 
APPENDIX A 

January 1, 20176 – December 31, 20176 
 

  Job Classification Probationary Intermediate Advanced 
    Hourly Rate Hourly Rate Hourly Rate 
    (0-63 days in the 

bargaining unit) 
(64 days – 1 yr in the 

bargaining unit) 
(over 1 year in the 
bargaining unit) 

C-1 Custodian - Light Duty 12.6212.97 13.4313.80 15.2115.63 
C-2 Custodian - Heavy Duty 13.0213.38 13.8414.22 15.6516.08 

  Grounds Keeper    
C-3 Swing Person (two buildings) 13.3513.72 14.1914.58 16.0116.45 

  Night Supervisor-MS, Elem, EACC    
  Custodial Pool    

C-4 Head Grounds-HS 13.7314.11 14.5414.94 16.4016.85 
C-5 Elementary Head Custodian 14.3714.77 15.2215.64 17.0217.49 

  Mail Truck Driver    
C-6 Head Custodial Pool 15.0915.51 15.9316.37 17.7218.21 
C-7 E.A.C.C. Head Custodian 15.5315.96 16.3016.75 18.0918.59 

  Asst. H.S. Head Custodian    
  M. S. Head Custodian    

C-8 Maintenance Engineer 15.7116.14 16.4616.91 18.2918.79 
C-9 High School Head Custodian 16.3116.76 17.2717.75 18.9219.44 
In addition to the listed custodial wages, the three percent (3%) employee’s contribution to PERF will be paid by 
Elkhart Community Schools. 
 
Whenever there is a wage change, C-1 will increase an equivalent ¢’s as C-2. 
 
Schedule adjustment on transfers to higher classification:  Employee will advance to the pay column the custodian 
held in his/her previous assignment (i.e. If a custodian was a C-2 Custodian in the Advanced Column and transfers 
to a C-5 position, the custodian will be moved to the C-5 Advanced Column.) 
 
Any personnel in the custodial department may be utilized in other areas of assignment on a temporary basis to 
effect an efficient operation of the school system as determined by the employer. 
 
All those working the night shift on a regular basis will receive an additional $.38/hour while working such shift. 
 
Employees working the overnight shift shall receive $.15/hour in addition to the differential paid to employees 
working the night shift. 
 
Night and evening shift employees will be paid the night shift differential for vacation days while working on the 
night shift. 
 
The North Side Gym, Rice Field, and Charger Field Cleanup Crew Supervisors will be paid a differential of 
$.40/hr. for hours worked overtime. 
 

LONGEVITY PAY PLAN 
5 – 9 years 10 – 14 years 15 – 19 years 20 +  years 

$.20 $.30 $.50 $.70 
 

December 8, 2015December 13, 2016



DLC 
 Proposed Revised Administrative Regulation 
 
 

 
EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENTS 

Section 1. 
 

Guidelines for Mileage Claims 

 The following guidelines are to be used by employees filing for reimbursement of 
transportation expenses incurred in fulfilling their assignment of duties: 

 
A. Transportation expenses incurred to and from work on a direct route shall not 

be considered as a proper claim for mileage reimbursement; however, in the 
event school-related business or job-related responsibilities require a deviation 
from an employee's regular route to work, then it is proper to claim 
reimbursement for additional transportation expenses above and beyond those 
expenses incurred in the regular route to and from the place of work.  
Example:

 

  If an employee travels a total of 18 miles in visiting two schools on 
the way to work, and a direct route from home to work is 12 miles, the 
employee may claim mileage reimbursement for 6 miles. 

B. Transportation expenses incurred in returning to work in the evening or on 
Saturday to complete unfinished job requirements, except where such return is 
to attend a meeting, conference, or other required evening or weekend activity 
shall not be a claimable expense. 

 
C. The primary place of job responsibility is to be used to determine beginning 

and ending points in computing total mileage traveled during the regular work 
day. 

 
D. When departing from the employee's residence for the purpose of attending 

evening or Saturday meetings, conferences or other required activity within 
the Elkhart Community Schools corporation boundaries, the employee's 
residence is to be used to determine beginning and ending points in 
computing total mileage traveled (no more than 20 miles may be claimed 
when using the employee's residence in computing mileage). 

 
E. In determining whether or not mileage can be claimed when attending extra or 

co-curricular activities, mileage can be claimed when the employee attends for 
the purpose of direct work responsibility. 

 
F. To claim mileage, the activity attended must be related to the employee's 

position description, or be an express direction or requirement of the 
employee's supervisor. 

 
G. The appropriate information is to be transferred to official Claim Form 101 

and filed in the Business Office at least twice annuallyon the first of each 
month.  Claim Form 101 is obtainable from the Business Office. 

 



Page 2 DLC 
Expense Reimbursements Administrative Regulation 
 

H. Questions concerning interpretation of this regulation are to be directed to the 
Executive Director of Support Services. 

 
I. Mileage claims are not to be confused with conference attendance claims.  

Each employee's must have the Deputy Superintendent’s or, when applicable, 
the Director of the Elkhart Area Career Center’s approval for conference 
attendance prior to such attendance.  Only the immediate supervisor's 
approval is needed for administrative/professional assignment and prior 
approval of other claimable transportation expense is not necessary. 

 
J. Administrative Regulation DLC (Mileage Chart) shall be used in determining 

distance between particular buildings in the school corporation except that no 
mileage between buildings shall be considered to be less than one mile. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 September 22, 2015December 13, 2016 









 

INTERNAL MEMO 

 
J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

2720 California Road • Elkhart, IN 46514 

 

 

 

To:    Dr. Robert Haworth 

From:  Mr. Douglas Thorne 

Date:  December 13, 2016 

 

Personnel Recommendations 

 

CERTIFIED 

a. Death – We regretfully report the death of the following employee: 

Marie Roose   Osolo/Grade 1 

Deceased :  12/6/16  22 Years of Service 

 

b. New Certified Staff – We recommend the following new certified staff for employment in the 

2016-17 school year: 

Anthony DeFelice  Elkhart Academy/Math 

Natalie Murphey  Cleveland~Feeser/Behavior Support 

 

c. Maternity Leave – We recommend a maternity leave for the following employees: 

Adrienne Bashore  Memorial/Counselor 

Begin:  1/20/17   End:  2/3/17 

 

Nicole Gray   Daly/Grade 2 

Begin:  1/3/17   End:  2/3/17 

 

Tara Schuster   Osolo/Grade 4 

Begin:  12/7/16 pm  End:  1/13/17 

 

d. Resignation – We report the resignation of the following employee: 

Matthew Miles   Central/Special Education 

Began:  8/15/11   Resign:  1/1/17 

 

 

e. Change to Parental Leave – We recommend a change to a parental leave for the following 

employee: 

 

Nicole Vesta Wade  Memorial/Special Education 

Began:  8/2/16   End:  5/26/17 

 



 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

CLASSIFIED 

a. Retirement – We report the retirement of the following employees:  

 

Tamara Ashley  Career Center/Business Account Manager 

Began: 1/20/04   Retire: 2/24/17 

 

Debora Hagans  Transportation/Bus Driver 

Began: 10/3/88   Retire: 11/30/16 

 

b. Resignation – We report the resignation for the following classified employees: 

 

Terry Cochran Transportation/Misc. Trainer/Dispatch 

Began:  6/6/14   Resign: 12/30/16 

 

Demetrius Pegues  Beck/Academic Trainer 

Began: 8/17/16   Resign: 12/16/16 

 

Kristin Speed   Cleveland/Food Service 

Began: 10/7/15   Resign: 12/7/16 

 

Diana Weber   Commissary/Food Service 

Began: 9/6/16   Resign: 12/5/16   

  

c. New Hires – We recommend regular employment for the following classified employees:  

 

Chatuan Bailey  Hawthorne/Paraprofessional 

Began: 8/4/16   PE: 12/8/16 

 

Madison Bartley  Cleveland/Paraprofessional 

Began: 9/26/16   PE: 11/28/16 

 

Martha Brown   Beck/North Side/Food Service 

Began: 10/3/16   PE: 12/5/16 

 

Sylvester Brown  Commissary/Food Service 

Began: 10/17/16  PE: 12/12/16 

 

Joan Brzozowski  ECS/Secretary  

Began: 10/5/16   PE: 11/30/16 

 

Jessica Chupp   Woodland/Food Service 

Began: 9/27/16   PE: 11/29/16 

 

Jennifer Glover  Monger/Paraprofessional 

Began: 9/29/16   PE: 12/1/16 

 



 
 

Page 3 of 3 
 

Dewayne House  Hawthorne/Food Service 

Began: 9/23/16   PE: 11/30/16 

 

Brenda King   Career Center/Paraprofessional 

Began: 9/20/16   PE: 11/22/16 

 

Joseph Rodriguez  Transportation/Bus Driver Unassigned 

Began: 10/13/16  PE: 12/7/16 

 

Linda Sedlock   Feeser/Food Service 

Began: 9/26/16   PE: 11/28/16 

 

Alexia Smith   Bristol/Paraprofessional 

Began: 10/10/16  PE: 12/12/16 

 

William Stebbins  Osolo~Feeser/Custodian 

Began: 10/10/16  PE: 12/5/16 

 


	Notice
	Agenda
	Building Report - Mary Feeser Elementary School
	Minutes - Work Session November 22 2016
	Minutes - Regular Meeting November 22 2016
	Fundraisers
	Request for Permission to Advertise a Timber Harvest
	Proposed 2017-2018 School Calendar
	Organizational Chart
	Classified Compensation Board Policies
	po3422.01S 12-13-16
	FOOD SERVICE EMPLOYEES’ COMPENSATION PLAN

	po3422.02S 12-13-16
	MECHANICS’ COMPENSATION PLAN

	po3422.03S 12-13-16
	BUS DRIVERS’ COMPENSATION PLAN

	po3422.04S 12-13-16
	BUS HELPERS’ WAGE SCHEDULE

	po3422.05S 12-13-16
	SUPPORT STAFF SALARY SCHEDULE
	(Maintenance Personnel)

	po3422.06S 12-13-16
	SECRETARIAL/BUSINESS COMPENSATION PLAN

	po3422.08S 12-13-16
	PARAPROFESSIONALS’ COMPENSATION PLAN

	po3422.09S 12-13-16
	TECHNICAL ASSISTANTS’ COMPENSATION PLAN

	po3422.10S 12-13-16
	REGISTERED NURSES’ COMPENSATION PLAN

	po3422.11S 12-13-16
	SOCIAL WORKERS’ COMPENSATION PLAN

	po3422.12S 12-13-16
	EMPLOYEES IN MISCELLANEOUS POSITIONS COMPENSATION PLAN

	po3422.13S 12-13-16
	THERAPISTS’ COMPENSATION PLAN

	po3422.14S 12-13-16
	EMPLOYEES IN TECHNOLOGY SERVICES POSITIONS
	COMPENSATION PLAN


	Custodian Agreement
	Custodial Memo
	11-13-16 Custodial Wages for 2017
	CUSTODIAL WAGES


	Administrative Regulation DLC
	Grants
	Agreement for Alternative Residential Services
	Conference Leave Requests
	Personnel Report



